The Anti-HIV-1 Host Protein MxB Promotes Cell Apoptosis

Master's Thesis Fan Huang

Department of Microbiology and Immunology McGill University, Montreal Date of Submission: June 2016 Supervisor: Dr. Chen Liang

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Master of Science.

©Fan Huang, 2016

Abstract (English)

MxB is an interferon-inducible myxovirus resistance (Mx) protein that has recently been reported to restrict HIV-1 infection. Before the discovery of its anti-HIV-1 activity, MxB was believed to be non-antiviral but to serve normal cellular functions. However, the role of MxB in regulating cell apoptosis has not been reported.

In our study, overexpression of MxB resulted in a dramatically increased apoptotic cell number in U87-CD4⁺/CXCR4⁺ cells. Annexin V staining revealed that MxB induces apoptosis in a dose-dependent manner. An additive effect on apoptosis was observed when these MxB-expressing U87 cells were exposed to treatment of sodium arsenite. Moreover, the knockout of endogenous MxB expression reduced oxidative stress-induced apoptosis in U87MG cells upon IFN α induction. In addition, SupT1 cells expressing MxB was also shown to be more sensitive to stress-induced apoptosis as MxB accelerated the apoptosis inducement under the condition of sodium arsenite treatment. Deleting the N-terminal region, disrupting the GTPase activity, and blocking the higher-ordered oligomerization of MxB resulted in a reduced apoptosis promotion activity. Completely blocking the dimerization of MxB, however, significantly enhanced its activity in apoptosis promotion. These data helps identify the functional regions of MxB that are involved in its pro-apoptotic activity. Taken together, results of our study suggest that MxB promotes cell apoptosis and enhances the sensitivity of different cell types to stress-induced apoptosis.

Future studies would aim to illustrate the mechanism of MxB-induced cell apoptosis. We will also investigate the possible link between the pro-apoptotic activity and the antiviral function of MxB.

Résumé (Français)

Il a récemment été démontré que la protéine de résistance aux *Mixovirus* (Mx) inductible par interferon MxB restreint l'infection au VIH-1. Avant la découverte de cette activité anti-VIH-1, MxB semblait servir pour les fonctions cellulaires normales et ne pas avoir de rôle antiviral. Cependant, le rôle de MxB en tant que régulateur de l'apoptose n'a pas été reporté.

Dans notre étude, la surexpression de MxB a entraîné une augmentation radical du nombre de cellules apoptotiques dans les cellules U87-CD4⁺/CXCR4⁺. Un marquage à l'Annexine V a révélé que MxB induit l'apoptose de manière dose-dépendante. Un effet pharmacologique additif sur l'apoptose a été observé lorsque des cellules U87 exprimant MxB ont été soumises à un traitement par de l'arséniate de sodium. En outre, le knock-out de l'expression endogène de MxB a réduit l'apoptose oxydative induite par le stress dans les cellules U87MG après induction par IFNα. De plus, nous avons montré que des cellules SupT1 exprimant MxB étaient plus sensibles à l'apoptose induite par le stress du fait que MxB accélère l'apoptose résultant du traitement par l'arséniate de sodium. En supprimant la région N-terminale, perturbant l'activité GTPase, et bloquant le haut degré d'oligomérisation de MxB, la propriété pro-apoptotique de MxB a été réduite.

Cependant, le blocage total de la dimérisation de MxB a significativement augmenté son activité pro-apoptotique. Ces données aident à identifier les régions fonctionnelles de MxB impliquées dans son activité pro-apoptotique. Dans leur ensemble, les résultats de notre étude suggèrent que MxB entraine l'apoptose cellulaire et augmente la sensibilité de différents types cellulaires à l'apoptose induite par le stress.

De futures études viseraient à élucider le mécanisme de l'apoptose induite par MxB. Nous explorerons aussi le lien putatif entre l'activité pro-apoptotique et la fonction antivirale de MxB.

Abstract (English)1	
Résumé (Français)	2
Table of Contents	3
Acknowledgements	6
List of Abbreviations	7
Chapter 1-Introduction	
1.1 Human Immunodeficiency Virus	11
1.1.1 History and Classification	
1.1.2 Disease and transmission	
1.1.2.1 Transmission of HIV	
1.1.2.2 Acute infection	14
1.1.2.3 Chronic infection	14
1.1.2.4 AIDS	
1.1.3 Virology	
1.1.3.1 HIV-1 genome and viral proteins	
1.1.3.2 HIV-1 particle structure	
1.1.3.3 HIV-1 replication cycle	20
1.2 Host restriction factors against HIV-1	
1.2.1 What are host restriction factors?	
1.2.2 APOBEC3G	
1.2.3 TRIM5α	
1.2.4 SAMHD1	34
1.2.5 Tetherin	35
1.2.6 IFITM	
1.2.7 SLFN11	
1.2.8 MxB	40
1.2.9 Newly identified anti-HIV-1 host factors	41

Table of Contents

1.3 Cell death: apoptosis, autophagy, necrosis and cornification	43
1.3.1 Apoptosis	44
1.3.2 Autophagy	46
1.3.3 Necrosis	47
1.3.4 Cornification	47
1.4 Rationale, hypothesis and objectives	49
Chapter 2-Materials and Methods	51
2.1 Antibodies	51
2.2 Cell lines and culture conditions	51
2.3 Transfections	52
2.4 Preparation of retroviral vectors	52
2.5 Transduction	52
2.6 PE Annexin V/7-AAD staining	53
2.7 Intercellular staining	53
2.8 Preparation of virus stocks	54
2.9 Western blot	54
2.10 Constructing MxB-Knockout U87MG cell lines	54
2.11 Constructing doxycycline-inducible SupT1 cell lines	56
2.12 Sodium arsenite, arsenic trioxide and hydrogen peroxide treatment	56
2.13 Serum starvation	57
Chapter 3-Results	58
3.1 MxB induces apoptosis in U87-CD4 ⁺ /CXCR4 ⁺ cells in a dose-dependent manner	58
3.2 MxA inhibits apoptosis while MxB induces apoptosis	60
3.3 HIV-1 infection doesn't promote MxB-induced apoptosis	62
3.4 MxB promotes oxidative stress-induced apoptosis in different cell lines	64
3.4.1 MxB promotes oxidative stress-induced apoptosis in U87-CD4 ⁺ / CXCR4 ⁺ cells	64
3.4.2 MxB promotes oxidative stress-induced apoptosis in SupT1 cell lines	67
3.5 MxA reduces MxB-induced apoptosis	71
3.6 Depletion of IFN-induced endogenous MxB expression reduces oxidative stress-induced	ed
apoptosis in U87MG cells	73

List of references	
Chapter 4-Discussion	
pro-apoptotic activity	
3.7 The N-terminal region, GTPase activity, and oligomerization of N	AxB are important for its

Acknowledgements

My interest and drive for the education in the field of microbiology has given me a great opportunity to study internationally. I am appreciative for being able to complete my Masters at McGill University in Canada and study with many great individuals.

I would first like to thank my supervisor, Dr. Chen Liang for the opportunity to work in his lab and study in the department of Microbiology and Immunology. His patience and trust during failed experiments, insight during data analysis, and influence for scientific ways of thinking, has greatly influenced me.

Secondly, I would like to thank my advisory committee members, Dr. Rongtuan Lin and Dr. Selena Sagan for attending my advisory committee meetings and offering me valuable advice during the course of my project.

I would also like to thank my lab members, especially our lab technician Qinghua Pan, for guiding and teaching me the basic skills for experiments when I first started in the lab. Thanks to Nathan Osman for helping me with the French abstract of my thesis.

I want to specially acknowledge a very special thank you to my coworker and best friend, Saina Beitari. Her company, friendship, and assistance have helped make the lab easier.

Thanks to Hugo for always being there for me, for showing me the great happiness that always exists in this city, for guiding my faith in becoming a better man.

Finally, I am very thankful for my soul mate Garrett's support and encouragement through the process of researching and writing this thesis.

Thank you to all of my friends and family for supporting me throughout all these years. This major accomplishment and knowledge that I have gained would not have been possible without them.

6

List of Abbreviations

Ab	Antibody
AIDS	Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome
AIM	Apoptosis inhibitor of macrophage
APOBEC	Apolipoprotein B mRNA editing enzyme, catalytic polypeptide-like
ART	Antiretroviral Therapy
BAK	BCL-2 antagonist/killer
BAX	BCL-2-associated X protein
BH3	BCL-2 homology 3
CA	Capsid
Cas9	CRISPR associated protein 9
CCR5	C-C chemokine receptor type 5
CDS	coding DNA sequence
CD4	Cluster of differentiation 4
CMV	Cytomegalovirus
CRISPR	Clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats
CXCR4	CXC chemokine receptor 4
DCAF1	DDB1-Cul4A-associated-factor-1
DISC	death-induced signaling complex
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
Dox	Doxycycline
Env	Envelope
ESCRT	cellular endosomal sorting complex required for transport
FASL	FAS ligand
FBS	Fetal bovine serum
gp	Glycoprotein
GRID	gay-related immune deficiency

gRNA	CRISPR guide RNA
HAART	Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy HCV Hepatitis C virus
HIV-1	Human immunodeficiency virus type 1
HIV-2	Human immunodeficiency virus type 2
IFITM	Interferon induced transmembrane IFN Interferon
IN	Integrase
ISG	Interferon stimulated gene
kD	Kilodaltons
КО	Knockout
LTR	Long terminal repeat
μg	Microgram
μl	Microliter
μΜ	Micromolar
М	Molar
MA	Matrix
MDM	monocyte-derived macrophages
mg	Milligram
ml	Milliliter
MLV	Murine leukemia virus
mM	Millimolar
mRNA	Messenger RNA
Mx	Myxovirus resistance
NC	Nucleocapsid
Nef	Negative-regulation factor
ng	Nanogram
NLS	nuclear localization signal
nm	Nanometer

NS	Nonstructural
ns	non-significant
PBS	Phosphate-buffered saline
РСР	Pneumocystis pneumonia
PE	Phycoerythrin
PFA	Paraformaldehyde
PIs	Protease Inhibitors
PIC	Pre-integration complex
PKR	dsRNA-dependent protein kinase
Pol	Polymerase
PR	Protease
PRR	pattern recognition receptor
Pr55 ^{Gag}	Group-specific antigen
P/S	Penicillin/Streptomycin
RIG-I	Retinoic acid inducible gene I
RING	really interesting new gene
RME	Receptor-mediated endocytosis
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
rpm	Revolutions per minute
RRE	Rev responsive element
RT	Reverse transcriptase
RTC	Reverse transcription complex
SAMHD1	Sterile Alpha Motif (SAM)-containing HD-domain containing protein 1
SDS-PAGE	Sodium Dodecyl Sulfate Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis
SIV	Simian Immunodeficiency Virus
STAT	Signal transducers and activators of transcription
TAR	transactivation response

Tat	Trans-activator of transcription
TRIM	Tripartite-motif-containing TYK2 Tyrosine kinase 2
U	Unit
UTR	Untranslated Region
Vif	Viral infectivity factor
Vpr	Viral protein R
Vpu	Viral protein U
Vpx	Viral protein X
VSV-G	Vesicular stomatitis virus glycoprotein
WT	Wild Type
7-AAD	7-Aminoactinomycin D

Chapter 1-Introduction

1.1 Human Immunodeficiency Virus

1.1.1 History and Classification

Human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) is the viral pathogen that causes Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome (AIDS). The first cases of AIDS were reported in 1981 when 5 young homosexual men with no clinically apparent immunodeficiency developed Kaposi's Sarcoma, pneumocystis pneumonia (PCP) or/and cytomegalovirus (CMV) infections¹⁻³. The disease was firstly called "gay compromise syndrome" or "gay-related immune deficiency (GRID)" until the next year when people realized that the disease was also spreading among hemophiliacs and heroin users^{4.5}. In the same year, the disease was renamed Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome⁶. In 1983, Dr. Luc Montagnier's group firstly isolated a new retrovirus from the lymph nodes of a patient that developed the symptoms of AIDS⁷. In the following years, with a number of more-detailed reports published, the retrovirus was finally confirmed to be the etiological agent of AIDS and was officially named as human immunodeficiency virus⁸⁻¹⁰.

HIV belongs to *Lentivirus*, a genus of viruses of the *Retroviridae* family. It is further categorized into two distinct species: HIV-1 and HIV-2, with HIV-1 being the predominant species worldwide. HIV-1 originates from the cross-species transmission of SIV from chimpanzee (SIVcpz)¹¹. HIV-2, which arises from the transmission of SIV from sooty mangabeys (SIVsm), is less prevalent (mainly prevalent in West Africa) and less pathogenic compared to HIV-1¹²⁻¹⁴ (Figure 1).



Figure 1. HIV strains cluster with chimpanzee and gorilla SIV in phylogenetic analysis¹⁵. The genetic similarities between different HIV and SIV strains are compared by full genome sequence aligning. The phylogenetic trees are shown based on nucleotide distance. In the inserted tables, MRCA refers to the time to the most recent common ancestor. Seq Age: oldest available sequence. Country: the country or location of the oldest sequence. CD4 DR: CD4 down-regulation by Nef and/or Vpu. Tetherin: tetherin antagonism by Nef, Vpu or Env. HIV-2 derives from SIVsm and it shares 50–60% sequence identity with HIV-1. HIV-1 Groups M and N are more closely related to SIVcpz while groups O and P are more closely related to SIVgor.

HIV-1 is divided into four distinct lineages based on viral sequence homology, namely, Groups M (main), N (new), O (outlier) and P (putative) (Figure 1). Each of these phylogenetic lineages results from an independent cross-species transmission event of SIVs that infect African apes¹⁶. Group M is the largest HIV-1 group and is responsible for the global HIV-1 epidemic. This group has further evolved into nine distinct subtypes (or clades): A, B, C, D, F, G, H, J, and K¹⁷. It is believed that the M and N groups of HIV-1 originate from SIV strains (SIVcpz*Ptt*) carried by chimpanzees in southern Cameroon¹⁸. The O and P groups of HIV-1, however, are more likely to be of gorilla origin¹⁶.

1.1.2 Disease and transmission

1.1.2.1 Transmission of HIV

HIV is transmitted through bodily fluids, including blood, semen, pre-seminal fluid, rectal fluids, vaginal fluids, and breast milk. Currently, sexual transmission is the major cause of new infections. Other ways of HIV transmission include sharing needles with HIV-infected patients during intravenous injections, transfusion with infected blood, and transmitting from mother to child during pregnancy, birth, or breastfeeding.

It is commonly believed that blocking the viral transmission is the simplest and the most effective way to control HIV infection. Sexual transmission can be substantially reduced by barrier protections (i.e. use of latex condoms)¹⁹. Vertical transmission can also be effectively controlled by anti-retroviral therapy (ART) during pregnancy, delivery and the breastfeeding period²⁰.

1.1.2.2 Acute HIV infection

In the absence of treatment, a typical HIV infection advances in three distinct stages: acute (or primary) HIV infection, chronic HIV infection (also known as clinical latency or asymptomatic phase), and AIDS (Figure 2).

The acute HIV infection occurs within the first few weeks following the primary infection. During this phase, the founder virus is widely disseminated, predominantly to lymphoid tissues, which is reflected by a sharp increase in HIV RNA in plasma and a dramatic loss of CD4⁺ T-cells. The host innate immune system is also activated, releasing a number of associated cytokines that subsequently activate the downstream effectors²¹. In most cases, patients develop flu-like symptoms including fever, sore throat, headache, and muscle and joint pain, which last approximately two weeks²²⁻²⁴. Painless swelling of lymph nodes may also occur during the second week of infection^{23,24}. After a certain period of rapid viral replication, which varies from 21 to 119 days, the viral load stabilizes at a certain level known as the viral set point. This is a consequence of the Cytotoxic T cell production by the host immune system that fights against the constantly produced viral particles²⁵.

1.1.2.3 Chronic HIV infection

The acute HIV infection usually lasts for approximately 6-12 weeks and is followed by the chronic infection, which may last 2-15 years²¹. During the chronic infection, the virus is still present while symptoms are minimal. With the activation of the robust host adaptive immune response, the plasma viral RNA load drops to a low level whereas the patient's CD4⁺ T-cell count is partially restored²⁶. As viral replication is still proceeding at a relatively low level, immune cells continually secrete proinflammatory cytokines and

chemokines, including IL-1 and TNF α , which further deplete the CD4⁺ T-cells and weaken the host immune system²⁶.

1.1.2.4 AIDS

As the infection progresses, the patient's immune system is continually damaged due to the persistent immune activation^{27,28}. When the CD4⁺ T-cell count falls below 200 cells/mm³, the patient is considered to have progressed to AIDS. In this phase, as the host immune control of pathogenic organisms can no longer be maintained, the level of viremia rises and the viral variation starts to explode²⁹. Consequently, patients are vulnerable to opportunistic infections, which lead to the development of more severe symptoms such as rapid weight loss, recurring fever, prolonged swelling of the lymph glands, memory loss, depression, and other neurologic disorders³⁰.



Figure 2. A typical natural time course of HIV infection³¹. The pattern of the CD4⁺ T -cell decline is shown in blue. The curve of viremia proceeding is highlighted in red.

1.1.3 Virology

1.1.3.1 HIV-1 genome and viral proteins

Similar to other retroviruses, the full HIV genome is encoded on a 9.7kb-long RNA strand that consists of nine open reading frames flanked by two long terminal repeats (LTR) (Figure 3). Nine viral proteins are encoded by overlapping genes on the HIV-1 genome, including three polyproteins: Group-specific antigen (Gag), polymerase (Pol), envelope (Env), four accessory proteins: viral infectivity factor (Vif), viral protein R (Vpr), viral protein U (Vpu), negative-regulation factor (Nef), and two regulatory proteins: transactivator (Tat) and regulator of viral expression (Rev).

Gag is a polyprotein that is further cleaved by the viral protease into three structural proteins: p17 (matrix or MA), p24 (capsid or CA), p7 (nucleocapsid or NC), and one additional protein p6³². The matrix protein p17 participates in the early stages of HIV-1 replication and is important for RNA targeting to the plasma membrane, incorporation of envelope into the viral particle and virion assembly³³. P24 is important for incorporation of the Gag-Pol precursor into viral particles³⁴. It also helps recruit Cyclophilin A (CypA), which enhances the viral infectivity³⁵. The nucleocapsid protein P7 is important for HIV-1 RNA packaging³⁶. Other than encapsulating and protecting the viral RNA, P7 also participates in reverse transcription and viral assembly^{36,37}. P6 facilitates Vpr packaging and virus releasing³⁸.

The HIV-1 *pol* gene lacks an initiation codon. Thus, the viral Pol protein is primarily translated as Pr160^{GagPol}, a Gag-Pol fusion product, resulting from a ribosomal frameshift during the translation of Pr55^{Gag39}. The Gag-Pol precursor is subsequently cleaved by viral protease, during which Pol itself forms three viral enzymes: protease (PR), reverse

transcriptase (RT), and integrase (IN)³⁹. The HIV-1 protease PR cleaves the Gag-Pol precursor as described above. RT catalyzes reverse transcription during which the double-stranded proviral DNA is formed. IN is responsible for the integration of the proviral DNA into the host cell chromosomes.

The Env protein precursor (gp160) is cleaved by cellular proteases into two viral proteins: the surface membrane protein (SU) gp120 and the trans-membrane protein (TM) gp41, both of which are involved in HIV-1 entry, facilitating the target cells attachment and the cell membrane fusion, respectively^{40,41}.

The two viral regulatory proteins, Tat and Rev, are also required for HIV-1 replication. Tat targets the transactivation response (TAR) element at the 5' end of viral RNA and it regulates transcription of the long terminal repeat (LTR)⁴². Rev localizes to nucleus of the host cell and it plays important roles in exporting HIV-1 RNAs from the nucleus, regulating viral protein expression, and maintaining proper balance between early and late viral genes⁴³⁻⁴⁶.

Unlike HIV-1 regulatory proteins, Vif, Vpr, Vpu and Nef are referred to as accessory proteins because they have been shown to be dispensable for viral replication in many cell culture systems⁴⁷. However, they have essential roles in viral replication and pathogenesis in vivo, such as counteracting anti-HIV-1 host restriction factors^{48,49}.

1.1.3.2 HIV-1 particle structure

A mature HIV-1 particle is spherical in shape and has a diameter of about 120 nm (Figure 4)⁵⁰. The HIV-1 viron is enveloped in a lipid bilayer that is formed when the newly produced virus particle buds from the host cell, surrounded with part of the host cell membrane. Surface protein Env complex, a gp120-gp41 heterodimer located on the

viral envelope, is composed of a gp120 cap that reaches out of the surface and a gp41 stem that is protruding through the membrane. Three Env complexes assemble non-covalently via their gp41 portion into a trimeric glycoprotein spike, which is crucial for the virus binding to its cellular receptor CD4. A matrix composed of an association of the viral protein MA is formed underneath the viral envelope, which ensures the integrity of the virion particle. HIV-1 CA proteins polymerize to form a conical-shaped viral core. Within the HIV-1 core, two copies of single-strand viral genomic RNA are tightly bound to NC proteins, which protect them from nuclease digestion. Also enclosed within the HIV-1 particle are viral enzymes, regulatory proteins and accessory proteins.



Figure 3. Schematic diagram of the HIV-1 genome⁵¹**.** The full HIV-1 genome is about 9.7kb. Nine viral proteins are encoded, including three polyproteins: Gag, Pol, Env, four accessory proteins: Vif, Vpr, Vpu, Nef, and two regulatory proteins: Tat and Rev.



Figure 4. Schematic structure of a mature HIV-1 particle⁵². Gp120/gp41 complex on exterior, p17 matrix protein, p24 capsid protein, and RNA bound with necessary regulatory factors are shown.



Figure 5. HIV-1 Entry⁵³. The virus entry process is shown, including the cell surface receptor/coreceptor binding, and fusion between the viral and host cell membranes.

1.1.3.3 HIV-1 replication cycle

HIV-1 replication cycle can be briefly divided into seven stages: binding, fusion, reverse transcription, integration, replication, assembly, and budding.

The viral particles recognize and bind to their primary cell-surface receptor CD4 that is expressed on the surface of $CD4^+$ T-cells, macrophages and dendritic cells. Then the gp120-gp41 trimer undergoes a conformational change, leading to the exposure of the variable loop 3 (V3)⁵⁴. The envelope V3 loop is a high-affinity binding site that interacts with the CXCR4 or CCR5 coreceptors after this conformational change⁵⁴. After coreceptor binding, the gp120-gp41 complex undergoes another conformational change, which exposes the fusion peptide in gp41 to trigger the fusion step⁵³.

The fusion between viral envelope and plasma membrane of the target cell starts when the fusion peptide inserts into the cellular membrane. Subsequently, a six-helix bundle is formed as a consequence of the interaction between HR1 and HR2 domains of the Env trimer⁵⁵. This six-helix bundle brings viral and host cell membranes in close contact, promoting the formation of fusion pore through which the viral capsid can pass to enter the target cell (See in Figure 5)⁵⁵.

Shortly after entry, HIV-1 core undergoes uncoating, a multistep process that is linked to reverse transcription and nuclear import. During this process, the viral matrix is disassembled and the core is rearranged to form a reverse transcription complex (RTC) and is then released into the cytoplasm. The RTC is composed of HIV-1 RNA, NC and RT, which reverse transcripts the viral RNA into double-stranded DNA. Reverse transcription is initiated when a cellular lysyl-tRNA^{Lys, 3} binds to primer binding site (PBS) on the viral genome, leading to an RNA-primed RT elongation⁵⁶. HIV-1 RT has

both DNA polymerase and RNase H activities, which allow it to degrade the remaining RNA strand after the first-strand synthesis and subsequently synthesize the second DNA strand using the preformed single-stranded DNA as template (Figure 6)⁵⁷.



Figure 6. Schematic of HIV-1 Reverse transcription⁵⁶. The viral RNA template is shown in red. Primer binding site is labeled as PBS. The integrase-competent dsDNA (bottom) is formed after reverse transcription, and will be inserted into the host genome.

Once reverse transcription has been completed, the pre-called RTC with the viral genomic RNA replaced by viral dsDNA is then referred to as pre-integration complex (PIC). The PIC is composed of viral DNA, which contains a nuclear import signal⁵⁸, viral proteins including IN, Vpr and MA, which possess nuclear localization signals (NLSs)⁵⁹, and some host proteins. The nuclear localization signals may contribute to PIC migrating to the nuclear pores and entering the nucleus. Following the nuclear import, the viral DNA is stably integrated into host cell chromosome by the HIV-1 integrase (Summarized in Figure 7). Briefly, IN binds to the LTR region at each end of the viral DNA. It then cleaves off the two nucleotides GT from the 3' end of viral DNA. This process occurs in the cytoplasm and is referred to as 3'-processing reaction⁶⁰. The HIV-1 IN also removes four to six nucleotides from the cellular DNA, forming a gap where the viral DNA can insert⁶⁰. Next, strand transfer occurs when sticky ends on the viral DNA and the cleaved ends of cellular DNA are joined together. The integration process is completed when host cell DNA repair enzymes fill the gaps that are formed between the integrated viral DNA and the cellular DNA after strand transfer⁶¹.



Figure 7. Schematic of HIV-1 integration. The 3'-processing reaction occurs in the cytoplasm, whereas DNA-strand transfer takes place in the nucleus. The PIC is imported into the nucleus. The strand-transfer reaction, repair of the remaining gaps are shown.

Once integrated into the host genome, the HIV-1 proviral DNA is incorporated into nucleosomes like normal cellular genes⁶². At this point, the provirus may either lie dormant as in the latent stage of HIV infection or be actively transcribed to produce new viral particles, mainly depending on nucleosomal organization and epigenetic control of the provirus⁶³. The transcription process is initiated by the viral LTR element, which harbors binding sites for cellular transcription factors⁶⁴. Low-level of viral transcription is common, however, in order to achieve a high viral production, both cellular transcription factors and two viral proteins, Tat and Rev, need to be present^{65,66}. Tat is synthesized during an early step of basal transcription. It then binds to the transactivation response (TAR) region on the nascent RNA to relieve a cellular block. Two cellular factors, Cyclin T1 and CDK9, are subsequently recruited, which increase the processivity of RNA polymerase II and thus result in high-levels of viral RNA production^{67,68}. During the primary transcription process, a polycistronic pre-mRNA is synthesized. It contains multiple splicing sites and can be alternatively spliced to generate more than 40 different mRNAs, which can be divided into three classes: ~9kb full-length RNA, ~4kb singly spliced RNA and ~2kb multiply spliced RNA⁶⁸. In the host cells, RNAs that contain introns are prevented from nuclear export. Thus, only multiply spliced RNAs can be exported into the cytoplasm where they are translated to form Tat, Rev and Nef⁶⁹. However, when the viral protein Rev is synthesized, it enters the nucleus and binds to the Rev responsive element (RRE) on singly spliced and unspliced RNAs, which allows the export of these transcripts into the cytoplasm⁷⁰. In the cytoplasm, singly spliced RNAs are translated to form Env, Vif, Vpu and Vpr proteins, while unspliced RNAs serve as the viral genetic material and are also translated to form Gag and Gag-Pol polyproteins (Figure 8)⁶⁹. Notably, a balance between spliced and unspliced viral RNAs must be achieved in order to ensure a spreading HIV infection⁶⁸.



Figure 8. Early and late transcripts of HIV-1⁶⁹. The integrated viral DNA is used as template to firstly produce viral early transcripts Rev, Tat and Nef. Tat enters the cell nucleus and mediates transcription transactivation. Rev binds to the 4kb singly spliced and the 9kb unspliced late transcripts in the cell nucleus and facilitates the nuclear export of these late mRNAs.

HIV-1 structural proteins are derived from Gag, Gag-Pol and Env polyproteins. The Env glycoproteins traffic from the rough endoplasmic reticulum (RER) to the Golgi apparatus, during which they are further cleaved by cellular proteases to form gp120 and gp41⁷¹. They then traffic in vesicles and finally reach the plasma membrane⁷¹. The Gag precursor, which contains MA, CA, NC and p6 domains as well as two spacer peptides, is synthesized from full-length viral RNAs as described. The MA domain guides the translocation of Gag proteins to the plasma membrane where they accumulate and oligomerize through its C-terminal CA domain, SP1 peptide and NC domain^{64,72}. Besides facilitating the assembly process, NC additionally recruits the viral RNA genome into the virions. During assembly, MA also promotes incorporation of the viral Env glycoproteins into the host cell membrane where the new virus will take as part of its envelope. This is achieved by basic residues that are found at the top of MA. They interact with negatively charged lipids in the inner leaflet of the host cell membrane⁷².

After the immature Gag lattice is assembled at the plasma membrane, the viral particle is then released from the cell surface via a membrane fission process. This step of viron budding is catalyzed by cellular endosomal sorting complex required for transport (ESCRT) apparatus that is recruited by the p6 domain of Gag⁷³. Briefly, the p6 domain bears a highly conserved PTAP motif near its N-terminus. This motif directly interacts with tumour susceptibility gene 101 (TSG101), a cellular protein found in ESCRT-I⁷⁴⁻⁷⁶. This ESCRT-recruiting process may be additionally promoted by Gag ubiquitylation, which is found in many retroviruses⁷⁷. ESCRT machinery then drives membrane scission, during which the viral membrane is formed by taking part of the plasma membrane with a layer of Pr55^{Gag} polyproteins associating with the inner leaflet⁵⁰. Shortly after budding,

maturation is initiated when the viral protease cleaves Pr^{Gag} and Pr160^{GagPol} polyprotein precursors, leading to the formation of a conical capsid core (Figure).



Figure 9. Late stages of the HIV-1 replication cycle⁷². Viral mRNA translation, Env trafficking to host cell membrane, Gag multimerization and binding to host cell membrane, RNA packaging, nascent viral particle releasing, and maturation are shown.

1.2 Host restriction factors against HIV-1

1.2.1 What are restriction factors?

Restriction factors are a group of cellular proteins that inhibit viral pathogens at different stages of their replication cycle⁷⁸. They serve as key effectors during the host innate immune response and also provide effective barriers to cross-species transmissions of viral pathogens^{79,80}. In addition, restriction factors also play an important role in limiting viral spread in new host species⁸¹.

Although diverse in structures and functions, host restriction factors share four defining characteristics^{82,83}. Most importantly, restriction factors must dominantly cause a dramatic drop in the viral pathogen's infectivity. Secondly, they are cell-intrinsic proteins that are often interferon-inducible and are thus tied to the host's innate immune response⁸². Thirdly, due to the non-stop arms race during the long-standing virus-host co-evolution, restriction factors often exhibit evolutionary signatures, with mutations maintained in a population only when they confer selective advantages⁸⁴. Finally, the viruses have evolved equally potent mechanisms to counteract restriction factors that are true threats to their replications⁸⁵.

A number of anti-HIV-1 host restriction factors have been identified over the past two decades (Summarized in Figure 10). Studying these HIV-1 restriction factors and the viral counteracting mechanisms help develop deeper knowledge and strategies for new therapeutic interventions⁸².



Figure 10. Host restriction factors targeting different stages of HIV-1 replication cycle and viral counteracting mechanisms⁸⁶. Restriction factors are highlighted in red and the viral antagonists are highlighted in blue. Briefly, soon after HIV-1 entry, Trim 5α binds to the viral capsids and accelerates its uncoating. The reverse transcription step is targeted by APOPBEC3G and SAMHD1, which are counteracted by the viral protein Vif and Vpx, respectively. APOPBEC3G causes viral DNA hypermutation, leading to degradation of the mutated viral DNA by host DNA repair enzymes. SAMHD1 reduces cellular nucleotide pool to a level that is too low for reverse transcription to proceed. MxB binds to HIV-1 capsids and prevent the nuclear import of the viral DNA. SLFN11 blocks viral mRNA translation by reducing tRNAs bearing the viral codon bias. GBP5 and MARCH8 impair the Env incorporation into the nascent HIV-1 particles by reducing cell surface Env proteins. Tetherin, which is counteracted by viral protein Vpu, captures the newly produced virions onto the producer cell surface. Infectivity of the progeny virus is strongly inhibited by incorporation of IFITM2/3 and SERINC3/5, and the latter proteins are antagonized by HIV-1 protein Nef.

1.2.2 APOBEC3G

The anti-HIV-1 activity of APOBEC3G was firstly identified through studies to understand the function of HIV-1 Vif protein, which was found to be dispensable for viral replication in some cell lines but not in CD4⁺ T-cells or other cell lines^{87,88}. In the cell fusion experiment, hybrid cells inherited the nonpermissive phenotype, attributing causation to a dominant-acting restriction factor⁸⁹. Finally, a cDNA subtraction-based screen revealed that APOBEC3G is the anti-HIV-1 restriction factor that is counteracted by viral protein Vif⁹⁰.

APOBEC3G is a member of Apolipoprotein B mRNA-editing enzyme catalytic polypeptide-like 3 (APOBEC3) subfamily that contains seven APOBEC3 proteins⁹¹. APOBEC3 subfamily belongs to the cytidine deaminase family, which includes another four members: activation-induced cytidine deaminase (AID), APOBEC1, APOBEC2, and APOBEC4⁹². Typically, APOBEC proteins have one or two copies of zinc-coordinating deaminase domain (the Z domain) that confers them RNA/DNA cytidine deaminase activities⁹³. Due to the structural and functional similarities, other APOBEC3 proteins, including APOBEC3A, 3B, 3C, 3F, and 3D/E, have also been shown to restrict *vif*-deficient HIV-1 to varying degrees⁹⁴⁻⁹⁸.

APOBEC3G has two copies of Z domains; the C-terminal Z domain catalyzes DNA C-to-U deamination, whereas the N-terminal pseudocatalytic Z domain possesses no enzymatic activity but has high affinity for RNA-binding and mediates the protein incorporation into HIV-1 particles (Figure 11)^{99,100}. During viral particle assembly in the producer cell, APOBEC3G is packaged into the virion as a result of an RNA-dependent interaction between its N-terminal Z domain and the HIV-1 Gag protein^{101,102}. Thus,

when the target cell is infected, APOBEC3G is also delivered into the cell, where its C-terminal Z domain deaminates cytosines during reverse transcription, causing C-to-U hypermutations on newly synthesized minus-strand viral cDNAs¹⁰³⁻¹⁰⁵. Host DNA repair enzymes recognize these uridine-containing DNAs for degradation. In addition, these minus-strand DNAs can further cause the DNA G-to-A hypermutations on the reverse complement plus-strand, which compromises viral genome integrity⁹².



Figure 11. Schematic domain organizations of human APOBEC3G, Trim5α, Tetherin, SAMHD1 and MxB. Major domains/motifs are highlighted in color. Functions and attributes of different domains are indicated. The numbers of amino acids are also indicated.

APOBEC3G has also been shown to directly block HIV-1 reverse transcription and integration through a deamination-independent mechanism¹⁰⁶⁻¹¹⁰. Reverse transcription is suppressed by APOBEC3G-mediated inhibition of tRNA^{lys3}-viral RNA annealing¹¹⁰, transcripts elongation¹⁰⁸, and DNA strand transfer¹⁰⁶. Notably, although this anti-HIV-1 mechanism is known as deamination-independent, the deaminase activity of APOBEC3G is still required^{92,111-113}.

The antiviral activity of APOBEC3G is counteracted by the viral protein Vif¹¹⁴. Briefly, Vif interacts with APOBEC3G and Cul5 E3 ubiquitin ligase complex via different motifs, leading to the assembly of an APOBEC3G-Vif-ligase complex, which subsequently induces polyubiquitylation and proteasomal degradation of APOBEC3G and, likely, Vif itself¹¹⁴⁻¹¹⁸.

1.2.3 TRIM5a

TRIM5 α was identified as a host restriction factor against HIV-1 in 2004¹¹⁹. It was firstly observed that HIV-1 replication was blocked before reverse transcription in Old World Monkey cells¹²⁰⁻¹²². Similar to the case of APOBEC3G, the restriction is dominant in heterokaryons in the cell fusion experiment^{120,123}. In addition, the virus was capable to avoid this restriction when the capsid sequence was manipulated¹²⁴. Evidence above leads to the prediction that a cellular antiretroviral factor must exist and target viral capsids¹²³. Thus, a cDNA-based screen of rhesus macaque genes was performed, leading to the identification of TRIM5 α^{119} .

TRIM5 α is cytoplasmic protein that belongs to the tripartite motif (TRIM)-containing protein family¹²⁵. Human TRIM5 α protein has an N-terminal TRIM domain and a C-terminal SPRY domain that are connected by linker 2 (L2) region. The TRIM domain

is further divided into a RING finger (R) motif that possesses E3 ubiquitin ligase activity, a B-box (B) motif that is linked to the R motif via linker 1 (L1) region, and a central coiled-coil (CC) motif that drives the protein dimerization (Figure 11)^{126,127}. Some monkey species have another highly related antiretroviral protein known as TRIM-CypA, in which the SPRY domain of TRIM5 α is functionally replaced by another protein cyclophilin A (CypA)¹²⁸.

It is not fully understood how TRIM5 α directly acts to block retroviral infections. One possible mechanism is that TRIM5 α directly interacts with viral capsids and accelerates the uncoating process, which leads to premature uncoating of the virus and proteasomal degradation of the viral RTC¹²⁹. Both the RING finger motif and B-box motif are essential for the full antiviral activity of TRIM5 α . The B-box motif contributes to higher-ordered oligomerazaiton of TRIM5 α , which increases the interaction between TRIM5 α and the viral capsid lattice¹³⁰. The RING finger motif possesses E3 ubiquitin ligase activity¹²⁶, and TRIM5 α -HIV-1 complex has been found in association with proteasomal subunits in cell¹³¹. Moreover, inhibition of the proteasomal pathway disrupts TRIM5 α -promoted capsid disassembly, resulting in restoration of the viral reverse transcription¹³². In addition, TRIM5 α may also block nuclear translocation of the viral PIC, which is the other possible inhibitory mechanism that has been proposed¹³².

Besides directly inhibiting viral replication, TRIM5 α also functions as a pattern recognition receptor (PRR), an immune sensor that activates the NF- κ B pathway¹³³. Briefly, TRIM5 α is activated upon interaction with the retroviral capsid lattice¹³³. The activated TRIM5 α then interacts with E2 ubiquitin-conjugating protein UBC13 and Ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme complex UEV1A. The interaction triggers the production

of unanchored K63-linked ubiquitin chain, which subsequently results in the activation of TAK1. Consequently, the NF- κ B signaling pathway is activated, leading to the innate PRR-mediated immune response⁹².

TRIM5 α functions as a restriction factor in a highly species-specific manner. It shows no antiviral activities against retroviruses that are naturally found in the same host species. On the contrary, it effectively inhibits retroviruses that are found in other host species. For example, HIV-1 is inhibited by TRIM5 α proteins that are found in Old World Monkey species¹¹⁹, but not by human TRIM5 α , which in turn inhibits MLV and EIAV^{134,135}. Hence, TRIM5 α provides a formidable barrier to cross-species transmission of primate lentiviruses^{80,136}.

1.2.4 SAMHD1

Vpx, which is duplicated from Vpr, is a viral accessory protein encoded by HIV-2 and most SIV strains, but not HIV-1¹³⁷. Although both Vpx and Vpr have the activities in enhancing viral replication in MDMs, such activity of Vpx has been found to be significantly higher than that of Vpr¹³⁸. THP-1 cells, which are non-permissive to HIV-1 infection, became permissive when transduced to overexpress Vpx¹³⁹. Heterokaryons formed by the fusion of permissive and non-permissive cell lines showed resistance to HIV-1 infection, which can be eliminated by an additional Vpx expression¹⁴⁰. Evidence above supports the hypothesis that Vpx counteracts a dominant inhibitor that targets the viral reverse transcription step¹³⁸⁻¹⁴⁰. This restriction factor, SAMHD1, was subsequently identified by a combined procedure of tandem affinity chromatography and mass spectrometry^{141,142}.

SAMHD1 consists of an N-terminal nuclear localization domain, a sterile alpha motif (SAM) domain, a histidine-aspartic (HD) domain, and a C-terminal variable domain (Figure 11). The N-terminal domain of SAMHD1 has an NLS, which guides SAMHD1 localization in the cell nucleus¹⁴³. The SAM domain is likely to be responsible for its protein-protein interaction¹⁴⁴, whereas the HD domain plays an important role in its oligomerization and nucleic-acid binding^{145,146}.

SAMHD1 is a dimeric dGTP-regulated deoxynucleoside triphosphohydrolase that hydrolyses cellular dNTPs in resting or non-dividing cells¹⁴⁷⁻¹⁴⁹. During the early step of HIV-1 infection, SAMHD1 blocks reverse transcription by reducing the intracellular dNTP pool to the level where reverse transcription cannot proceed¹⁴⁹. There are also studies supporting another model of SAMHD1-mediated HIV-1 restriction. SAMHD1 additionally displays an RNase activity¹⁵⁰ and selectively targets RNA in the form of DNA-RNA duplexes¹⁵¹. Thus, it blocks the viral replication by catalyzing the degradation of HIV genomic RNA on the cDNA-RNA hybrid that is formed during the first step of reverse transcription^{151,152}.

SAMHD1-mediated restriction is counteracted by Vpx. Briefly, Vpx interacts with DDB1-Cul4A-associated-factor-1 (DCAF1) protein, which is a substrate of the Cul4A E3 ubiquitin ligase¹⁵³. Vpx also binds to SAMHD1, leading to the recruitment of the protein to Cul4A-DCAF1 complex, followed by proteasomal degradation of SAMHD1¹⁵³.

1.2.5 Tetherin

The HIV-1 accessory protein Vpu has been found to be essential for efficient viral particle release from some cell lines, namely, HeLa cells, but not from others, such as COS cells^{154,155}. Cell fusion experiments suggested the existence of a dominant inhibitor
that can be counteracted by Vpu¹⁵⁶. Further experiments implied that this inhibitor is a membrane-associated cell-surface protein, as the trapped virions were released following treatment with subtilisin protease¹⁵⁷. It was further shown to be IFN-inducible¹⁵⁸. This restriction factor was finally identified by a cDNA microarray system-based comparison between cells with or without IFN- α treatment and was named tetherin¹⁵⁹.

Tetherin is a type II single-pass transmembrane protein. It comprises a transmembrane (TM) domain that is closely connected to a short N-terminal cytoplasmic tail (CT), a C-terminal glycophosphatidylinositol (GPI) lipid anchor, and a coiled-coil extracellular (EC) domain that connects the TM domain and the GPI lipid anchor¹⁶⁰ (Figure 11). At the cell surface, the GPI anchor mediates the attachment of tetherin to specific regions on membrane that are known as lipid rafts¹⁶⁰. Similarly, the TM domain is also anchored to the lipid bilayer membrane, with the CT reaching inside the cytoplasm where it interacts with the actin cytoskeleton^{160,161}. The EC domain is responsible for the protein dimerization¹⁶². In a dimer, two tetherin monomers are connected via intermolecular disulfide bonds formed among three cysteine residues in the EC domain (Figure 12)¹⁶³.

In the absence of Vpu, tetherin blocks the release of newly produced HIV-1 particles by directly tethering them on the surface of the producer cell¹⁵⁸. Although the mechanism of this tethrin-mediated viron capture is not fully understood at the structural level, it is clear that the membrane anchoring activities of both TM and GPI, as well as the dimerization activity of the EC domain, are strictly required¹⁶⁴. Moreover, studies using different approaches support the extended parallel/anti-parallel homodimer model of tetherin, in which two parallelly/anti-parallelly and covalently linked EC domains are oriented perpendicular to the cellular and viral membranes (Figure 12)¹⁶⁵⁻¹⁶⁹. The

captured viral particles accumulate in endosomes following internalization via receptor-mediated endocytosis (RME), and are subsequently degraded in lysosomes¹⁵⁷. Similar as TRIM5 α , tetherin also inhibits HIV-1 by serving as an innate immune sensor for HIV-1 assembly, which subsequently induces proinflammatory responses through NF κ B signaling pathway¹⁷⁰.

The HIV accessory protein Vpu counteracts the antiviral function of tetherin. Vpu binds directly to tetherin through interaction between the Vpu TM domain and the tetherin TM domain^{171,172}. This TM-TM interaction leads to coimmunoprecipitation of tetherin and Vpu^{173,174}, as well as internalization of tetherin from the cell surface¹⁷¹. In addition, Vpu-binding may also recruits tetherin to proteasomes for degradation^{175,176}. It is also noteworthy that most of SIV strains lack Vpu expression, instead, they counteract tetherin-mediated restriction using another viral accessory protein, Nef¹⁷⁷. In some other cases, the Env proteins of some non-human primate lentivirus species also possess the activities in counteracting tetherin^{178,179}.



Figure 12. Extended homodimer model of tetherin⁹². Two tetherin monomers are perpendicularly anchored in both membranes with the same (parallel) or opposite (anti-parallel) orientations.

1.2.6 IFITM

The Interferon induced transmembrane proteins (IFITM) were firstly identified as anti-HIV-1 restriction factors through an shRNA-based ISG screening in SupT1 cells¹⁸⁰. IFITM proteins belong to the dispanins protein family, which is characterized by a common structure with two membrane-associated domains¹⁸¹. Humans have five IFITM proteins: IFITM1, IFITM2, IFITM3, IFITM5 and IFITM10, with IFITM1, IFITM2 and IFITM3 possessing anti-viral activities^{180,182}.

Human IFITM proteins are composed of an N-terminal domain (NTD), an intramembrane domain (M1), a conserved intracellular loop (CIL); a transmembrane domain (M2); and a highly variable C-terminal domain (CTD) (Figure 13)¹⁸³. It is not fully understood how this structure of IFITM proteins contributes to their anti-HIV-1 activities. However, it has been reported that the intracellular region and the C-terminal domain of IFITM1 is important for its anti-HIV-1 function^{180,184}. Moreover, the N-terminal domain of IFITM3 has also been found to modulate its activity in inhibiting influenza A virus, but not HIV-1, by altering its subcellular localization¹⁸⁵.



Figure 13. Domain organizations of human IFITM1, IFITM2 and IFITM3¹⁸⁶. The N- and C-terminal domains are shown in grey. The intramembrane domain (purple), conserved intracellular loop (light orange) and transbambrane domain (green) are shown.

IFITM proteins inhibit HIV-1 in both virus-producing cells and target cells¹⁸⁷, with IFITM1 selectively inhibiting HIV-1 replication at an early step after integration but before Gag protein expression, while IFITM2 and IFITM3 inhibiting viral entry^{180,183}. In producer cells, IFITM2 and IFITM3 are incorporated into nascent HIV-1 particles during assembly by interacting with Env, which decreases the viral infectivity by negatively affecting the newly produced virion entry into the target cell¹⁸⁷⁻¹⁸⁹. In target cells, IFITMs may also interfere with viral protein expression that is specifically mediated by double-stranded viral RNAs¹⁹⁰. The IFITM restriction has been found to be overcome by viral Env mutants¹⁸⁹.

1.2.7 SLFN11

The anti-HIV-1 activity of Schlafen (SLFN)-11, a protein member of the SLFN family, was revealed in 2012¹⁹¹. Similar to other ISGs, the expression of SLFN11 is strongly induced by type I IFN. Induction of SLFN-11 subsequently leads to a selectively reduced expression level of viral proteins but not host proteins¹⁹¹. Although the mechanism of SLFN11-mediated HIV-1 restriction is not fully understood at the structural level, it has been shown that SLFN11 inhibits the viral replication at a late stage of the viral mRNA translation in a codon-usage-dependent manner¹⁹¹. More specifically, SLFN11 binds directly to cellular tRNAs, leading to a selective reduction of the tRNAs that are bearing rare viral codon bias by an unknown mechanism¹⁹¹. Consequently, HIV-introduced change in the tRNA pool, which is crucial for the viral replication, is prevented by SLFN-11 on the basis of codon usage discrimination^{191,192}.

1.2.8 MxB

In 2013, three groups independently and simultaneously reported the anti-HIV-1 activity of human MxB, one of the two closely related IFN-inducible myxovirus resistance (MX) proteins in humans¹⁹³⁻¹⁹⁵. The two MX proteins, MxA and MxB, are large GTPases that belong to the dynamin-like family of proteins and both have anti-viral activities against different virus species^{196,197}.

MxB is composed of an N-terminal region, a GTPase (G) domain, and a C-terminal stalk domain, which are connected by three bundle signaling element (BSE/B) domains (Figure 11)¹⁹⁸. The N-terminal region of MxB contains both an HIV-1 capsid-binding motif that is crucial for its anti-HIV-1 activity^{199,200} and a nuclear localization signal (NLS) that helps MxB localizes to the nuclear rim¹⁹⁶. The C-terminal stalk domain of MxB is responsible for the protein oligomerization, which is also required for the restriction of HIV-1^{201,202}.

MxB directly binds to HIV-1 capsids via a triple-Arginine motif in its N-terminal region¹⁹⁹ and blocks the virus replication after reverse transcription but before integration, through a mechanism that is not fully understood¹⁹³⁻¹⁹⁵. Although the NLS of MxB has been shown to be dispensable for its anti-HIV-1 activity^{199,200}, many studies support the idea that MxB restricts HIV-1 by deterring the nuclear import and integration of the viral DNA^{195,202-205}. It has also been reported that MxB may prevent the uncoating process of HIV-1¹⁹⁷. Notably, MxB only binds to the intact HIV-1 capsid assemblies, but not to the CA protein monomer or hexamers, which indicates a possible role of MxB as an immune sensor for HIV-1 capsids²⁰⁶. In addition, the anti-HIV-1 activity of MxB also requires dimerization, but not higher-ordered oligomerization, of the protein^{201,206}. As viral

capsids are the targets of MxB, HIV-1 has been found to escape MxB restriction by introducing mutations in its capsid sequence¹⁹³⁻¹⁹⁵.

1.2.9 Newly identified anti-HIV-1 host factors

In recent two years, several host proteins have been identified as anti-HIV-1 factors, including GBP5, MARCH8, and SERINC3/5.

Guanylate Binding Protein (GBP) 5 is an IFN-inducible GTPase that belongs to the GBP subfamily. It was identified as a potential HIV-1 restriction factor in 2015 by a genome-wide screen²⁰⁷. In virus-producing cells, GBP5 interferes with HIV-1 Env processing and incorporation, which reduces the infectivity of newly produced viral particles²⁰⁸. Moreover, the Golgi localization of GBP5 is crucial for its antiviral activity, whereas the GTPase activity is dispensable²⁰⁸. GBP5 restriction is counteracted by naturally occurring start codon mutations in the viral *vpu* gene, which leads to an increase of Env expression and a tolerable loss of Vpu function²⁰⁸.

Membrane-associated RING-CH 8 (MARCH8) belongs to the MARCH family of RING-finger E3 ubiquitin ligases^{209,210}. The anti-lentiviral function of MARCH8 was firstly observed when a MARCH8-expressing lentiviral vector showed extremely low infectivity when used for transduction²¹¹. Similar as GBP5, MARCH8 targets HIV-1 Env in the virus-producing cells and reduces the infectivity of newly produced virions^{208,210}. Briefly, MARCH8 downregulates the viral Env from surface of the infected cell, leading to reduced incorporation of Env into the nascent viral particles²¹¹. The viral infectivity is thus decreased at the step of entry into target cells²¹¹.

The anti-HIV-1 activities of serine incorporator 3 (SERINC3) and SERINC5 were reported in 2015 by two groups using different approaches^{212,213}. Although it still remains

debatable whether these two proteins can be classified as host restriction factors due to the fact that they are not IFN-inducible and no positive-selection signature has been observed²¹², it is clear that they are potent inhibitors of HIV-1 infectivity and are counteracted by the HIV-1 Nef protein^{212,213}. SERINC3 and SERINC5 are multipass transmembrane proteins that have around 9-10 transmembrane domains. When expressed in the virus-producing cells, they localize to the plasma membrane and incorporate into the nascent HIV-1 particles during virions budding^{212,213}. Similar to the cases of IFITM2/3, GBP5 and MARCH8, the incorporation of SERINC3/5 potently impairs the infectivity of the newly produced HIV-1 particles by negatively affecting their entry into target cells^{212,213}. The HIV-1 accessory protein Nef antagonizes SERINC3/5 restriction by preventing the incorporation of SERINC3/5 into HIV-1 virions^{212,213}. More specifically, Nef downregulates SERINC5 from the cell surface by redirecting the protein to a Rab7-positive endosomal compartment²¹².

1.3 Cell death: apoptosis, autophagy, necrosis and cornification

Cell death occurs through different mechanisms. Based on the underlying mechanisms, the Nomenclature Committee on Cell Death (NCCD) proposed that cell death could be classified into four major types: apoptosis, autophagy, necrosis and cornification (Table 1), as well as several atypical modalities including mitotic catastrophe, excitotoxicity, anoikis, and Wallerian degeneration^{214,215}. The four typical cell death modalities will be briefly introduced below.

Cell death mode	Morphological features
Apoptosis	Rounding-up of the cell Retraction of pseudopodes Reduction of cellular and nuclear volume (pyknosis) Nuclear fragmentation (karyorrhexis) Minor modification of cytoplasmic organelles Plasma membrane blebbing Engulfment by resident phagocytes, <i>in vivo</i>
Autophagy	Lack of chromatin condensation Massive vacuolization of the cytoplasm Accumulation of (double-membraned) autophagic vacuoles Little or no uptake by phagocytic cells, <i>in vivo</i>
Cornification	Elimination of cytosolic organelles Modifications of plasma membrane Accumulation of lipids in F and L granules Extrusion of lipids in the extracellular space Desquamation (loss of corneocytes) by protease activation
Necrosis	Cytoplasmic swelling (oncosis) Rupture of plasma membrane Swelling of cytoplasmic organelles Moderate chromatin condensation

Table 1. Four typical modalities of cell death²¹⁵

1.3.1 Apoptosis

Apoptosis is the major mode of programmed cell death (PCD) in multicellular organisms that is accompanied by characteristic cell changes including cell shrinkage, plasma membrane blebbing, global mRNA decay, nuclear fragmentation, chromatin condensation, and chromosomal DNA fragmentation²¹⁴. Two major activation mechanisms have been found to initiate cell apoptosis: the intrinsic pathway (or the mitochondrial pathway) and the extrinsic pathway (or the death-receptor pathway) (Figure 12)²¹⁶.

In the mitochondrial pathway, the initiation of apoptosis is determined by a tripartite apoptotic switch, which consists of three protein subgroups of the BCL-2 family: BH3-only proteins, pro-survival cell guardians, and pro-apoptotic effector proteins BAX and BAK²¹⁷. Once activated by cytotoxic stimuli, such as oncogenic stress, BH3-only proteins initiate apoptosis by inhibiting the pro-survival cell guardians, leading to the activation of the pro-apoptotic effectors BAX and BAK. The activated BAX and BAK form protein oligomers that disrupt the mitochondrial outer membrane, enabling the release of cytochrome c, an apoptogenic factor, to the cytosol²¹⁸. Cytochrome c promotes the activation of caspase-9 on APAF1, which subsequently activates the effector caspases, such as caspase-3²¹⁹.

The death-receptor pathway is activated by death receptors of the tumor necrosis factor receptor (TNFR) family, among which the cell surface-bound receptor FAS (first apoptosis signal) is best characterized. FAS is activated when ligating to its physiological ligand FASL on the cell plasma membrane, leading to the assembly of a death-inducing signaling complex (DISC) which contains caspase-8, caspase-10, FADD and c-FLIP²²⁰.

FAS interacts with FADD and promotes the FADD-mediated recruitment of caspase-8, which in turn activates effector caspases and triggers the execution of the apoptotic cell²²¹.



Figure 14. Two major apoptotic pathways in mammalian cells²¹⁷. The mitochondrial pathway (left) and death receptor pathway (right) are shown

1.3.2 Autophagy

Autophagy, also known as type 2 PCD, is a self-degradative process that leads to a highly organized non-apoptotic form of cell death²²². This process is mainly characterized by degradation of cytoplasmic components at lysosomes, thus to eliminate misfolded or aggregated proteins, damaged cellular organelles, as well as intracellular pathogens²²³. Autophagy is further classified into three types: macro-autophagy, micro-autophagy, and chaperone-mediated autophagy, among which macro-autophagy is best characterized. Unless specified, the term "autophagy" usually refers to macro-autophagy. The process of macro-autophagy is summarized below (figure 15)²²². Briefly, the target cytoplasmic component is firstly enclosed by a unique membrane called the phagophore or isolation membrane to form a double-membraned vesicle known as the autophagosome. Next, the outer membrane of autophagosome is fused with an endosome and then a lysosome, leading to the formation of the autophagosome where the internal material is degraded by lysosomal acid.



Figure 15. Summary of macro-autophagy in mammalian cells²²²**.** The process from the PAS (yeast) initiation to autophagosomal contents degradation is shown.

1.3.3 Necrosis

Necrosis, also known as necrotic cell death, is usually considered as a premature cell death caused by autolysis of injured cells²²⁴. Morphological characteristics of necrosis include an initial gain in cell volume, organelle swelling, early plasma membrane rupture and subsequent loss of intracellular contents²²⁵. On the contrary to the previous opinion that necrosis is an accidental and unregulated cellular event, studies have shown the existence of programmed necrosis, also known as necroptosis, which is executed by regulated mechanisms (Figure 16)^{226,227}. Under normal conditions, a balance between apoptosis and necrosis is reached due to an inhibitory function of the death-receptor apoptotic pathway on necrosis. Briefly, the execution of necrosis requires the enzymatic activity of protein RIP kinase 1 (RIPK1)²²⁸, which functions together with another highly related protein RIPK3²²⁹. The two proteins form a RIPK1-RIPK3 pro-necrotic complex necrosome that regulates programmed necrosis²³⁰. When death-receptor apoptotic pathway is intact, caspase-8 cleaves both RIPK1 and RIPK3, thus inhibiting the necrotic cell death²³¹. Other components of DISC, such as FADD and FLIP, have also been shown to negatively regulate the necrosome function 226 .

1.3.4 Cornification

Cornification is a specific form of PCD that occurs in the epidermis of multicellular organisms, leading to the formation of a dead keratinocyte specifically named corneocyte. Corneocyte contains an amalgam of specific proteins and lipids, which enable it to serve varies functions, such as mechanical resistance, elasticity, water repellence and structural stability. Cornification is a specific process of terminal epithelial differentiation during which cells express a plethora of enzymes including proteases, as well as their substrates²³². Specific lipids are also synthesized and released into the extracellular space where they interact with cornified envelope proteins to build up an epidermal barrier²¹⁵.



Figure 16. Crosstalk between DISC and the necrosome in embryonic development²²⁷.

a. Under normal condition, a balance between apoptosis and necrosis is reached, leading to normal embryonic development and T-cell proliferation. **b.** When the DISC is impaired, the death-receptor pathway is thus disrupted, leading to uncontrolled necrosis and, subsequently, the death of the embryo.

1.4 Rationale, hypothesis and objectives

It has long been known that type I and type II IFNs play important roles in promoting apoptosis in multiple cell types with both the mitochondrial and the death-receptor pathways involved²³³⁻²³⁶. Although the mechanisms behind their pro-apoptotic effects are not fully understood, type I IFNs themselves are not likely to be the direct effectors; rather, they function by up-regulating certain ISGs that either serve as or subsequently induce downstream intermediate effectors of cell apoptosis^{236,237}. Many ISGs that are involved in cell apoptosis pathways have been identified, including pro-apoptotic innate sensors such as TLRs²³⁸, as well as some caspases such as caspase-4 and caspase-8²³⁷. Some other ISGs have also been shown to possess pro-apoptotic activities, implying that they may play roles in IFN-induced apoptosis. Among these ISGs, human MxA, which is a potent antiviral host protein, promotes cell apoptosis triggered by endoplasmic reticulum stress under the conditions of the influenza virus infection as well as apoptotic stimuli induction²³⁹⁻²⁴¹. Enhanced apoptosis in virus-infected cells leads to a reduced virus production, therefore, this pro-apoptotic activity of MxA may further contribute to its antiviral function²³⁹. Similarly, MxB is also an IFN-inducible antiviral host protein that selectively inhibits lentiviruses including HIV-1¹⁹³⁻¹⁹⁵. In our study, significantly increased cell death has been observed when U87-CD4⁺/CXCR4⁺ cells were transduced to overexpress MxB, implying a possible pro-apoptotic activity of MxB that is similar to MxA. We therefore hypothesize that MxB plays a role in promoting cell apoptosis.

In this project, we aimed to investigate a potential new function of the IFN-inducible anti-HIV-1 host protein, MxB, in apoptosis promotion. In order to verify if MxB induces cell apoptosis, the apoptotic cell ratio was monitored in U87-CD4⁺/CXCR4⁺ cells that

were transduced to overexpress MxB by Annexin V staining. The cell samples were collected at different time points in order to understand the dynamic process of the MxB-induced apoptosis. As MxA has been reported to enhance cell death induced by the influenza virus infection as well as other apoptotic stimuli, we tested if MxB also promotes apoptosis under different conditions including HIV-1 infection, oxidative stress, as well as serum starvation. Activated caspase-3 level was also detected to further verify the MxB-promoted apoptosis. Next, we wanted to see if the IFN-induced endogenous expression of MxB is sufficient in apoptosis promotion. To test this, the MxB knockout experiment was performed in U87MG cells with the CRISPR/Cas9 system. Finally, we tested the pro-apoptotic activities of different MxB loss-of-function mutants. By doing so, we hoped to identify the functional regions that are essential for the activity of MxB in promoting cell apoptosis.

Chapter 2-Materials and Methods

2.1 Antibodies

The primary antibodies used for immunoblotting are: mouse monoclonal anti-Flag (Sigma-Aldrich) (1:5000), mouse monoclonal anti-β-Tubulin (Santa Cruz Biotechnology) (1:5000), rabbit polyclonal anti-MxB (1:500), cleaved caspase-3 (Asp175) antibody (Cell Signalling) (1:1000). The secondary antibodies used for immunoblotting are: horseradish peroxidase-linked donkey anti-rabbit IgG (GE Healthcare) (1:10000) and horseradish peroxidase-linked sheep anti-mouse IgG (GE Healthcare) (1:10000).

The antibodies used to stain cells for flow cytometry are: antibody for the detection of FLAG[™] conjugated proteins (MOUSE) Monoclonal Antibody (Rockland) (1:1000), Fluorescein Isothiocyanate (FITC)-conjugated mouse monoclonal KC57 antibody (1:100), Phycoerythrin (RD1)-conjugated mouse monoclonal KC57 antibody (1:100).

2.2 Cell lines and culture conditions

U87MG cells were maintained in Eagle's Minimum Essential Medium (EMEM) (Wisent Bio Products) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) (Thermo Fisher), 1% Penicillin/Streptomycin (P/S) (Thermo Fisher), and 1% L-glutamine (Thermo Fisher).

U87-CD4⁺/CXCR4⁺ cells were maintained in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) (Thermo Fisher) supplemented with 15% FBS, 1% P/S, 1% L-glutamine, 2 µg/mL puromycin (Sigma-Aldrich), and 1 mg/mL G418 sulfate (Invitrogen).

U87MG-MxB-Knockout cell lines were maintained in EMEM supplemented with 10% FBS, 1% P/S, 1% L-glutamine, and 1 µg/ml puromycin.

SupT1 cells were maintained in RPMI media 1640 (Thermo Fisher) supplemented with

10% FBS, 1% P/S, and 1% L-glutamine.

Tetracycline/doxycycline inducible Control-/MxA-/MxB-/IFITM-expressing SupT1 cell lines were maintained in RPMI media 1640 supplemented with 10% FBS, 1% P/S, 1% L-glutamine, 2 µg/mL puromycin, and 1 mg/mL G418 sulfate.

Human embryonic kidney (HEK293T) cells were maintained in DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS and 1% P/S.

Cells were grown in CO₂ incubators at 37°C with 5% CO₂ concentration.

2.3 Transfections

 4×10^{6} HEC 293T cells were seeded in 10cm cell culture dishes 20 hours before transfections. 8.5µg plasmids, 25.5µl PEI (1µg/µl) and 1ml Opti-Modified Eagle Medium (opti-MEM) (Invitrogen) were mixed by vortexing and incubated in room temperature for 20 minutes. The mixtures were then added into the dishes to transfect cells. The media was changed 4 to 6 hours following transfection.

2.4 Preparation of retroviral vectors

MLV-based retroviral vectors were produced by cotransfection of HEK293T cells with plasmids encoding the MLV-gag/pol, VSV-G and the target proteins. The transfection was done in 10cm plates with 4.0µg of MLV-gag/pol, 4.0µg of plasmids encoding the target proteins and 0.5µg of VSV-G. 48 hours after transfection, the cultured supernatant was harvested and centrifuged at 3000rpm, 4°C for 20 minutes to remove the cell debris. The supernatant was then divided into aliquots and stored at - 80°C.

2.5 Transduction

 0.3×10^6 U87-CD4⁺/CXCR4⁺ cells were seeded 6-well tissue culture plates with 1.5ml of drug-free media 16 hours before transduction. Indicated amount of retroviral vectors

were added to each well with 3μ l of polybrene (5mg/ μ l). The cells were spinoculated at 1800rpm, room temperature (25°C) for 45 minutes. The media was changed 24 hours following transduction.

2.6 PE Annexin V/7-AAD staining

PE Annexin V/7-AAD staining was performed with the PE Annexin V Apoptosis Detection Kit I (BD PharmingenTM). U87-CD4⁺/CXCR4⁺ cells were harvested by trypsinization and were centrifuged together with the cultured supernatant at 1200rpm, 4°C for 5mins. The cells were then moved to 1.5ml centrifuge tubes and were washed twice with cold Phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) (Thermo Fisher). The cells were resuspended in 50µl of the 1× Binding Buffer with 2µl PE Annexin V and 2µl 7-AAD. The cells were incubated for 15 min at RT in the dark and were then washed once with 1ml of the 1× Binding Buffer. The cells were finally fixed in 1ml of 2% Paraformaldehyde (PFA) and stored at 4°C in the dark or subjected to further intercellular staining and flow cytometry.

2.7 Intercellular staining

Cell samples were fixed in 2% PFA at 4°C for 30 minutes and were washed once with 1ml of PBS containing 2% of FBS. Cells were washed twice with the 1× Permeabilization buffer. Antibodies were diluted in the 1× Permeabilization buffer according to the manufacturer's instructions. The cells were resuspended with 50 μ l of the diluted antibodies and were incubated on ice for 1 hour in the dark. After the incubation, the cells were washed three times with the 1× Permeabilization buffer and were then resuspended in 500 μ l of PBS containing 2% of FBS. The samples were analyzed by flow cytometry immediately.

2.8 Preparation of virus stocks

The VSV-G-pseudotyped HIV-1 is a chimeric virus composed of the HIV-1 core and the envelope glycoprotein of vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV-G). In our study, the VSV-G-pseudotyped virus (NL4-3/VSV-G) was produced by cotransfection of HEK293T cells with plasmids encoding the proviral DNA of the HIV-1 stain NL4-3 and VSV-G. The virus was collected and stored as described in *Chapter 2.4*.

2.9 Western blot

U87-CD4⁺/CXCR4⁺ cells, SupT1 cells and U87MG cells were harvested and washed once in cold PBS. The cells were then lysed for 30 minutes on ice in the lysis buffer. Cell lysates were purified by centrifuging the lysed cells at 32000rpm, 4°C for 15 minutes. 60µl of the purified cell lysates were mixed with 20µl 4×loading buffer and 10µl of the mixed sample was loaded and run on SDS-polyacrylamide gels (SDS-PAGE). Proteins were transferred on PVDF membranes (Roche) and the membranes were blocked in 5% non-fat milk dissolved in PBST (0.05% Tween-20 in PBS) at RT for 1 hour. The membranes were then incubated with the primary antibody at RT for 2 hours or at 4°C overnight, washed 5 times with PBST solution and then incubated with the secondary antibody for 1 hour. The signals were visualized by applying enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL) substrate (PerkinElmer).

2.10 Constructing MxB-Knockout U87MG cell lines

The MxB-Knockout U87 cell lines were constructed using the CRISPR/Cas9 system. The LentiCRISPR v2 plasmid was purchased from Addgene. The target guide sequences were designed with the optimized CHRISPER design tool: tools.genome-engineering.org. (Figure 17) and were cloned into the lentiCRISPRv2 backbone according to the

54

manufacturer's instructions. Lentivirus vectors were produced by cotransfection of HEK293T cells with plasimds encoding LentiCRISPRv2 backbone, VSV-G and psPAX2. U87MG cells were then transduced with the lentivirus vectors to express the Cas9 nucleases that target different regions of MxB gene. Two days after transduction, the cells were selected with 2 μ g/ml of puromycin for 7 days. The selected cell lines were kept in media containing 1 μ g/ml of puromycin.

Target 1:		
Oligo 1→ 5'- CAO	CGGACAAGCTCGCTGCACGTTC -3	
3'-	CCTGTTCGAGCGACGTGCAAGCAAA -5' - Oligo 2	
Target 2:		
Oligo 1→ 5'- CAC	CGGAACGTGCAGCGAGCTTGTC -3	
3'-	CCTTGCACGTCGCTCGAACAGCAAA -5' - Oligo 2	
Target 3:		
Oligo 1→ 5'- CACCGGGCACTGTGCCGAATGGCGG -3		
3'-	CCCGCCATTCGGCACAGTGCCCAAA -5' - Oligo 2	
Target 4:		
Oligo 1→ 5'- CACCGTGTGGTGGCACTGTGCCGAA -3		
3'-	CTTCGGCACAGTGCCACCACACAAA -5' Coligo 2	

Figure 17 Oligo sequences designed for MxB Knockout using CRISPR/Cas9 system. Four pairs of oligos indicating different target sequences were designed with the optimized CHRISPER design tools (tools.genome-engineering.org) and are shown in red. Target 1 and Target 2 were selected on the 5'UTR of MxB, Target 3 and Target 4 were selected on the CDS of MxB.

2.11 Constructing doxycycline-inducible SupT1 cell lines

Doxycycline-inducible MxA, MxB and IFITM3 SupT1 cells were constructed previously as described¹⁹³. Retroviral vectors were constructed by transfecting the vector DNAs (Retro-X Tet-On, Retro-X-Pur, Retro-X-MxA, Retro-X-MxB or Retro-X-IFITM3) into the GP2-293 packaging cells (Clontech). Retrovirus particles were collected as described in *Chapter 2.4.* 3×10^{6} SupT1 cells were spinoculated with the Retro-X TetOn virus particles at 1800rpm, room temperature for 45 minutes. The stably transduced cells were selected with 1mg/ml G418 and were then infected with retroviral vectors encoding Retro-X-MxA, Retro-X-MxB, and Retro-X-IFITM3. The cells were kept in media supplemented with both 2µg/ml puromycin and 1mg/ml G418 for further selection. The expression of the target proteins was verified by western blot and flow cytometry following doxycycline induction.

2.12 Sodium arsenite, arsenic trioxide and hydrogen peroxide treatment

U87-CD4⁺/CXCR4⁺ cells were transduced to overexpress the target proteins. The cells were kept for another 3 days before the treatment. 2×10^6 of Doxycycline-inducible SupT1 cells were seeded in 12-well tissue culture plates and were treated with 500ng/ml doxycycline for 16 hours to induce the expressions of the target proteins. 0.4×10^6 of the MxB-Knockout U87MG cells were seeded in 6-well tissue culture plates for 24 hours and were then treated with 500Units/ml of IFN α 2b (provided by the Jewish General Hospital) for 16 hours. Indicated concentrations of sodium arsenite (NaAsO₂), Arsenic Trioxide (As₂O₃) or Hydrogen Peroxide (H₂O₂) were then added into the media and were kept for 24 hours before the cells were harvested for further experiments.

2.13 Serum starvation

U87-CD4⁺/CXCR4⁺ cells were transduced to overexpress the target proteins. 24 hours after transduction, the cells were kept in serum-free DMEM supplemented with 1% P/S, 1% L-glutamine, 2 μ g/mL puromycin, and 1 mg/mL G418 sulfate for 72 hours before the cells were harvested for further experiments.

Chapter 3-Results

3.1 MxB induces apoptosis in U87-CD4⁺/CXCR4⁺ cells in a dose-dependent manner

In order to verify if MxB induces cell apoptosis, U87-CD4⁺/CXCR4⁺ cells were transduced to overexpress flag-tagged MxA or MxB proteins. Cells were kept in DMEM containing puromycin and G418 in order to maintain the expression of CD4 and CXCR4. Five days after transduction, cells overexpressing MxB exhibited a significantly increased apoptosis ratio (~4-fold) compared to the control group. However, the apoptosis ratio of cells that were overexpressing MxA was decreased (Figure 18A). This result suggested that MxB, but not MxA, induces cell apoptosis in U87-CD4⁺/CXCR4⁺ cells.

Next, we tested if the ratio of this MxB-induced apoptosis is correlated to the expression level of MxB. U87-CD4⁺/CXCR4⁺ cells were transduced with escalated-dose retroviral vectors. The result showed that the apoptosis ratio of MxB-expressing cells was increased as we increased the level of MxB expression (Figure 18B). On the contrary, the apoptosis ratio was not significantly changed in either the MxA or the control groups that were transduced by retroviral vectors at doses of up to 200 μ l. At the dose of 500 μ l, however, both the MxA and the control group showed an increase (~1.5-1.8 fold) in apoptotic cell ratio, indicating that 500 μ l dose is too high for this experiment. Therefore, in the following experiments, 200 μ l of retroviral vectors were used for transduction of U87-CD4⁺/CXCR4⁺ cells.

Taken together, the results above suggested that human MxB protein induces apoptosis in U87-CD4⁺/CXCR4⁺ cells in a dose-dependent manner.



Figure 18 MxB-induced apoptosis in U87-CD4⁺/**CXCR4**⁺ **cells** (A) MxB induces cell apoptosis. U87-CD4⁺/CXCR4⁺ cells were transduced with 500µl retroviral vectors that packaged RNAs encoding MxA or MxB. 500µl blank vector of pQCXIP2.0 was transduced in the control group. Cells were kept in DMEM containing puromycin (2µg/ml) and G418 (1mg/ml) for another 5 days. Cell apoptosis was then detected by PE Annexin V staining. The data represents 5 independent experiments. (B) Dose-dependent promotion of apoptosis by MxB. U87-CD4⁺/CXCR4⁺ cells were transduced with 50µl, 100µl, 200µl, or 500µl MxA or MxB retroviral vectors. Same doses of pQCXIP2.0 blank vector were transduced in the control group. Cells were kept in DMEM containing puromycin and G418. Five days after transduction, cells were harvested and stained with PE Annexin V or anti-flag antibody to examine the apoptosis ratio and the transduction efficiency, respectively.

3.2 MxA inhibits apoptosis while MxB induces apoptosis

To understand the dynamic process of MxB-induced apoptosis in U87-CD4⁺/CXCR4⁺ cells, a time-course experiment has been performed to monitor the apoptosis ratio from day 2 to day 5 after transduction. In the MxB group, apoptotic cell number began to rise significantly on day 3 after transduction and peaked on Day 4 (Figure 19A). On day 5, however, the percentage of apoptotic cell population decreased and shifted to Annexin V negative region, likely because cells expressing high level of MxB underwent apoptosis and died earlier, shrinking to a size too small to be gated. In contrast, the number of apoptotic cells in the MxA group, which was consistently lower than that of the control group, remains unchanged until day 4, suggesting a delayed apoptosis in MxA-expressing cells (Figure 19A). More strikingly, in the MxA group, apoptosis ratio in the flag-negative population (Figure 19B). These results are strong evidence suggesting that apoptosis is inhibited in U87-CD4⁺/CXCR4⁺ cells by expression of MxA.



Figure 19. Time-course experiment of MxB-induced apoptosis. U87-CD4⁺/ CXCR4⁺ cells were transduced with 200µl MxA or MxB retroviral vectors. 200µl blank vector was transduced in the control group. Cells were kept in DMEM containing puromycin and G418. Apoptotic cell percentages and the percentages of the target protein-expressing cells were measured on day 2, 3, 4 and 5 by flow cytometry following the double staining with PE Annexin V and anti-flag antibody. Figure B shows the original flow cytometry data of the control, MxA, and MxB group on Day 4.

3.3 HIV-1 infection doesn't promote MxB-induced apoptosis

MxA, a restriction factor against influenza virus, has been shown to promote apoptosis under the condition of influenza virus infection²³⁹. In order to test if HIV-1 infection also plays a role in MxB-induced apoptosis, VSV-G-pseudotyped HIV-1 (NL4-3/VSV-G) was used to infect U87-CD4^{+/} CXCR4⁺ cells that were transduced to overexpress MxA or MxB. Puromycin and G418 were removed from the media during the experiment to prevent possible interference with viral infection. Apoptosis ratio and infection efficiency were measured 48 hours after viral infection. The apoptosis ratio was not significantly changed in all the groups that were tested, indicating that HIV-1 infection is not likely to be a condition that promotes MxB-induced apoptosis. Also, notably, as MxB inhibits HIV-1 infection, the p24-positive cell number in MxB-expressing cells was much lower compared to that in the MxA-expressing cells and the control cells. The absence of significant change in the cell apoptosis ratio in the MxB group could also be caused by the low infection efficiency (<0.5%). Nevertheless, this experiments suggested that the existence of infectious HIV-1 viral particles does not promote MxB-induced apoptosis.



Figure 20. HIV-1 infection in MxB transduced cells. U87-CD4⁺/ CXCR4⁺ cells were transduced with 200µl MxA or MxB retroviral vectors. 200µl blank vector was transduced in the control group. Cells were kept in DMEM without puromycin and G418. 24 hours after transduction, the cells were infected with 30µl VSV-G-pseudotyped HIV-1 (NL4-3/VSV-G). Cells were stained with PE Annexin V and anti-flag antibody to test the apoptosis ratio 4 days after transduction. The infection efficiency was tested with anti-flag antibody and KC57 antibody that detects HIV-1 capsid protein p24.

3.4 MxB promotes oxidative stress-induced apoptosis in different cell lines

Oxidative stress, a condition in which the generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) overwhelms the cell's natural antioxidant defences, plays a central role in regulating cell apoptosis²⁴². It has been shown that oxidative stress leads to apoptosis in multiple cell types via both the mitochondria-dependent and mitochondria-independent pathways²⁴³. In order to test if MxB plays a role in promoting oxidative stress-induced apoptosis, we compared the apoptosis ratio in both U87-CD4⁺/ CXCR4⁺ cells and SupT1 cells that were overexpressing MxB under normal condition or under the condition of sodium arsenite treatment.

3.4.1 MxB promotes oxidative stress-induced apoptosis in U87-CD4⁺/ CXCR4⁺ cells

U87-CD4⁺/ CXCR4⁺ cells were shown not to be sensitive to the oxidative stress, as in the control group, the apoptotic cell ratio remained unchanged with up to 5µM sodium arsenite treatment for 24 hours (Figure 21A and B) and the expression of activated caspase-3 was only moderately increased (Figure 21C). The apoptosis ratio of MxB-expressing cells, however, was significantly increased after treated with 5µM sodium arsenite for 24 hours (Figure 21A and B). Activated caspase-3 expression was also shown to be significantly up-regulated in the MxB-expressing cells with the sodium arsenite treatment (Figure 21C). As puromycin and G418 were removed from the media during this experiment, we again compared the apoptotic cell ratio between the cells that were transduced to overexpress MxB and the control cells without oxidative stress. In consistence with the previous result, MxB-expressing cells showed a significantly increased apoptosis ratio (Figure 21A and B). Moreover, the MxB-expressing cells also expressed a higher level of activated caspase-3 (Figure 21C), indicating that MxB itself truly induces apoptosis. It is also worth mentioning that, in consistence with the previous results, the apoptosis ratio and the activated caspase-3 expression in MxA-expressing cells were significantly decreased when compared to the control cells under all conditions (Figure 21A-C). These results further support the finding that MxA inhibits apoptosis.

Additionally, we tested if MxB also promotes apoptosis under other stress conditions. In our experiment, MxB promoted all apoptosis induced by oxidative stress, such as in the cases of sodium arsenite, arsenic trioxide as well hydrogen peroxide (Figure 21D). All the three conditions aforementioned significantly increased the apoptosis ratio in MxB-expressing cells to different degrees (Figure 21D). However, serum starvation did not enhance the MxB-induced apoptosis (Figure 21D). These results suggested that MxB promotes oxidative stress-induced apoptosis in U87-CD4⁺/CXCR4⁺ cells.



Figure 21. MxB promotes oxidative stress-induced apoptosis in U87-CD4⁺/CXCR4⁺ cells. (A-C) U87-CD4⁺/CXCR4⁺ cells were transduced with 200µl MxA or MxB retroviral vectors. 200µl blank vector was transduced in the control group. Cells were kept in DMEM without puromycin and G418. 72 hours after transduction, the cells were treated with 1µM or 5µM sodium arsenite (NaAsO₂) for another 24 hours before harvested. The Annexin V positive cell ratio and cleaved caspase-3 expression were measured. (D) U87-CD4⁺/CXCR4⁺ cells were transduced as described above. 72 hours after transduction, the cells were treated with 5µM sodium arsenite (NaAsO₂), 5µM arsenic trioxide (As₂O₃), and 500µM hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) as described in *2.12*. Serum starvation was applied as described in *2.13*. The cells were harvested and stained with PE Annexin V and anti-flag antibody.

3.4.2 MxB promotes oxidative stress-induced apoptosis in SupT1 cell lines

Unlike U87-CD4⁺/ CXCR4⁺ cells, SupT1 cells showed more sensitivity to oxidative stress-induced apoptosis (Figure 22A and D). Doxycycline-inducible MxB SupT1 cell line was firstly shown to have the same sensitivity to oxidative stress as the control cell line when not induced with doxycycline to express MxB (Figure 22A). The cell lines were then treated with doxycycline for 16 hours to induce MxB expression, followed by the exposure to different concentrations of sodium arsenite for another 24 hours. Under the normal condition without oxidative stress, MxB-expressing SupT1 cells showed a higher apoptosis ratio (\sim 1.8-fold) compared to the control group (Figure 22B and C), indicating that MxB also induces cell apoptosis in SupT1 cells. As we expected, sodium arsenite treatment significantly increased the apoptosis ratio in both groups (Figure 22B and C). In addition, SupT1 cells expressing MxB was also shown to be more sensitive to stress-induced apoptosis as MxB accelerated the apoptosis inducement under the condition of sodium arsenite treatment compared to the control group (Figure 22B and D). It should also be noted that, different from U87 cells, the apoptotic SupT1 cells in the MxB group were not MxB-positive (Figure 22B). Moreover, while the apoptotic cell number was increased with higher concentrations of sodium arsenite treatment, the number of MxB-expressing cells was decreased (Figure 22B). Two possible reasons could lead to this result. Firstly, the MxB-expressing cells may lose MxB expression after undergoing apoptosis, which causes the initial Flag⁺/Annexin V⁻ cell population shift to the Flag/Annexin V^+ quadrant. Secondly, the sodium arsenite may interfere with the doxycycline-inducible protein expression system, leading to a reduced flag-positive cell population. In the second case, the data wouldn't be valid to support our conclusion.

In order to test this, two additional doxycycline-inducible SupT1 cell lines, MxA and IFITM3, were included. Although the cell population in the Flag⁻/Annexin V^+ quadrant increased in both MxA and IFITM SupT1 cell lines upon 5µM sodium arsenite treatment, the cell population in the Flag⁺/Annexin V⁻ quadrant showed no decrease (Figure 22F). Western blot revealed a reduced flag-tagged protein expression in both MxB and IFITM group, but not in MxA group, after the cells were treated with sodium arsenite (Figure 22G). This result suggested that, although sodium arsenite treatment may cause a reduced protein expression level, the protein-expressing cell numbers were not interfered. In this case, we can conclude that the reduced MxB-positive cell population we observed was caused by apoptosis, and the Flag-Annexin V⁺ cells in the MxB group are the formerly MxB-expressing cells that underwent apoptosis. Moreover, although expressed in a significantly reduced level, MxA was shown to inhibit apoptosis in SupT1 cells under the oxidative stress condition (Figure 22E). IFITM3-expressing SupT1 cells also showed a significantly reduced sensitivity to oxidative stressed-induced apoptosis (Figure 22E). This work is mainly focused on MxB and MxA.

Taken together, these results suggested that MxB induces apoptosis and promotes oxidative stress-induced cell apoptosis in both U87-CD4⁺/ CXCR4⁺ cells and SupT1 cells.



Figure 22. MxB induces apoptosis and promotes oxidative stress-induced cell apoptosis in SupT1 cells. (A) Doxycycline-inducible MxB SupT1 cell line and the control cell line (Puro) were treated with escalated concentrations (1µM, 5µM and 10µM) of sodium arsenite for 24 hours. Cells were stained with PE Annexin V to detect the apoptosis ratio. The relative fold change of the apoptosis ratio was normalized according the cell apoptosis ratio without sodium arsenite treatment. (B-D) Doxycycline-inducible MxB SupT1 cell line and the control cell line were treated with 500ng/ml doxycycline for 16 hours before 1µM or 5µM sodium arsenite were added to the cells. Doxycycline and sodium arsenite were kept in cells for another 24 hours. Cells were stained with PE Annexin V and anti-flag antibody. (B) The flow cytometry data is representative of 3 independent experiments that are (C) summarized and (D) normalized according the cell apoptosis ratio without sodium arsenite treatment. (E-G) Doxycycline-inducible MxA, MxB and IFITM3 SupT1 cell lines and the control cell line (Vector) were treated with 500 ng/ml doxycycline for 16 hours before 5µM sodium arsenite were added to the cells. Doxycycline and sodium arsenite were kept in cells for another 24 hours. Cells were stained with PE Annexin V and anti-flag antibody. (E) Summary of 3 independent experiments and (F) one group of representative original flow cytometry data were shown. (G) One group of the cells were harvested for western blot with anti-flag antibody to detect the target protein expression level.

3.5 MxA reduces MxB-induced apoptosis

During the innate immune responses against viral infection, type I interferon induces the transcription of a large number of ISGs, including both MxA and MxB. In macrophages as well as other types of cells, these two proteins can be detected simultaneously upon type-1 interferon induction. As we have shown that MxA inhibits apoptosis while MxB induces apoptosis, we next wanted to see what would happen to the cells when these two proteins are simultaneously expressed. In order to test this, one additional group of U87-CD4⁺/ CXCR4⁺ cells was cotransduced with both the MxA-retroviral vector and the MxB-retroviral vector to overexpress the two proteins simultaneously. The apoptosis ratio was measured after the cells were treated with or without 5µM sodium arsenite for 24 hours.

Under both conditions, the apoptosis ratio of cells that were overexpressing both MxA and MxB was significantly decreased when compared to the MxB group (Figure 23A and B), indicating that MxA inhibits cell apoptosis in MxB-expressing cells. Specifically, without oxidative stress, MxA reduced MxB-induced apoptosis to the level that is comparable to the control group (Figure 23A and B). Under the stress condition, however, the apoptosis ratio of the cells that were expressing both MxA and MxB was still significantly higher compared to the control group, which was again shown not to be sensitive to oxidative stress-induced apoptosis (Figure 23A and B). The result of this experiment showed that, when expressed together, MxA reduced MxB-induced apoptosis, revealing a possible role of MxA in balancing the apoptosis-inducing activity of MxB under normal conditions. Moreover, as cells expressing both MxA and MxB were still sensitive to oxidative stress, we believe that, MxA does not eliminate the activity of MxB
in promoting oxidative stress-induced apoptosis, although the apoptosis ratio was reduced to a more moderate level.



Figure 23. MxA reduces apoptosis in MxB-expressing cells. U87-CD4⁺/CXCR4⁺ cells were transduced with the following retroviral vectors: 100µl MxA and 100µl pQCXIP2.0 (blank vector), 100µl MxB and 100µl pQCXIP2.0, or 100µl MxA and 100µl MxB. 200µl blank vector was transduced in the control group. The cells were kept in DMEM without puromycin or G418. 72 hours after transduction, 5µM sodium arsenite were added into the media of one set of the experimental groups and kept for 24 hours. The cells were stained with PE Annexin V and anti-flag antibody. (A) Summary of 3 independent experiments and (B) one group of representative original flow cytometry data were shown.

3.6 Depletion of IFN-induced endogenous MxB expression reduces oxidative stressinduced apoptosis in U87MG cells

To directly examine whether the endogenous level of MxB is sufficient in inducing apoptosis and promoting oxidative stress-induced apoptosis, MxB knockout experiment was performed in U87MG cells with CRISPR/Cas9 system. CRISPR/Cas9 with target-3 (T3) and target-4 (T4) guide RNA effectively knocked out MxB expression (Figure 24C). MxB-Knockout cell lines showed comparable basal levels of apoptosis ratio as the control cell line (Figure 24A and B). Without IFNa induction, treatment with sodium arsenite moderately increased the apoptosis ratio in all the groups (~1.4-fold) (Figure 24A and B). Likewise, without sodium arsenite, IFN α induction alone also increased apoptosis ratio in the control group (\sim 1.7-fold), but not in T3 or T4 group (Figure 24A) and B). Most strikingly, with both IFN α induction and sodium arsenite treatment, apoptosis ratios in all groups were significantly increased (Figure 24A and B), suggesting the existence of other interferon inducible proteins that have pro-apoptotic activities. This result is in consistence with previous studies showing that type I IFN induces apoptosis by up-regulating certain ISGs that either serve as or further induce downstream apoptotic effectors^{236,237}. Moreover, compared to the control group that showed the highest increase in apoptosis ratio (~4-fold), apoptotic cell ratio in both T3 and T4 group were significantly reduced (~2.7-fold and ~2.1-fold, respectively) (Figure 24A and B), which indicated that knockout of IFNa-induced endogenous MxB expression reduced the sensitivity of U87MG cells to oxidative stress-induced apoptosis. In summary, results from this experiment confirmed that endogenous level of MxB promotes oxidative stress-induced apoptosis. Moreover, MxB may not be the only ISG that induces apoptosis

and promotes oxidative stress-induced apoptosis, as with IFNα induction, both of the MxB-KO groups still showed a significant increase in apoptotic cell ratio compared to the groups without IFN treatment.



Figure 24. Knockout of MxB reduces oxidative stress-induced apoptosis. Stable MxB-knockout U87MG cell lines (T3 and T4) were treated with 500U/ml IFN α 2b for 16hours. Cells were then treated with 5 μ M sodium arsenite for another 30 hours. Cell apoptosis ratio was detected by PE Annexin V staining and analyzed by flow cytometry. (A) Relative fold changes of apoptotic cell ratio were normalized according to the control cell line without IFN α or sodium arsenite treatment. (B) One group of representative original flow cytometry data are shown. (C) Endogenous MxB expressions and MxB knockout efficiency were confirmed by western blot.

3.7 The N-terminal region, GTPase activity, and oligomerization of MxB are important for its pro-apoptotic activity

Next, in order to identify the functional regions that are important for the activity of MxB in inducing cell apoptosis and promoting oxidative stress-induced apoptosis, U87-CD4⁺/CXCR4⁺ cells were transduced to overexpress different MxB loss-of-function mutants.

The N-terminal region of MxB plays an essential role in its anti-HIV-1 activity¹⁹⁸. An HIV-1 capsid-binding domain and a nuclear localization signal have been identified within the first 25 amino acids of MxB (Figure 25A)^{196,199}. Deletion of this 1-25 amino acid of MxB causes a partial loss of its pro-apoptotic activity, as U87-CD4⁺/CXCR4⁺ cells overexpressing MxB Δ 1-25 exhibited a moderately reduced apoptosis ratio compared to the wild type MxB in both conditions with or without sodium arsenite treatment (Figure 25B). This result indicated that the N-terminal region of MxB might be one, but not the only, determinant of its activity in inducing cell apoptosis.

A single amino acid substitution in MxB GTPase domain (K131M) causes the loss of its GTPase activity (Figure 25A)²⁴⁴. MxB K131M mutant also showed a reduced activity in inducing apoptosis in U87-CD4⁺/CXCR4⁺ cells (Figure 25B). Moreover, another MxB single point mutation R455D that occurs in the stalk interface 3 of MxB and thus blocks its higher-order oligomerization and reduces its dimerization²⁰¹, was also shown to cause a partial loss of its activity in inducing cell apoptosis (Figure 25A and B). Notably, neither of these two mutations alters the activity of MxB in promoting oxidative stress-induced apoptosis in this experiment (Figure 25B). These data indicated that, other than the N-terminal region, the GTPase activity and the oligomerization of MxB might also play crucial roles in MxB-induced cell apoptosis.

MxB M574D mutation occurs in the dimer interface (stalk domain interface 2) of MxB and completely blocks its dimerization and anti-HIV-1 activity²⁰¹. Surprisingly, in this experiment, the M574D mutation significantly enhanced the activity of MxB in inducing apoptosis and promoting oxidative stress-induced apoptosis in U87-CD4⁺/CXCR4⁺ cells, resulting in a ~2-fold increase of the apoptosis ratio in both conditions with or without sodium arsenite treatment (Figure 25B). This result suggested that the role of MxB dimerization might differ from that of MxB oligomerization in cell apoptosis induction and promotion. Likely, the monomer form of MxB may have a higher activity in inducing apoptosis and promoting oxidative stress-induced apoptosis.









Figure 25. MxB Mutations alter its activity in inducing apoptosis and promoting oxidative stress-induced cell apoptosis. (A) Schematic model of wild type human MxB^{201} . The numbers of the amino acid residues at the boundaries of the MxB domains are indicated. The nuclear localization signal (NLS), stalk domain, GTPase domain (G Domain), and bundle-signaling element (B) are indicated. Sites of the mutations used in this study are labeled in red. (B) U87-CD4⁺/CXCR4⁺ cells were transduced with retroviral vectors that packaged RNAs encoding the following proteins: MxA, MxB, MxB Δ 1-25, MxB K131M, MxB R455D and MxB M574D, under the same MOI of 1.6. 200µl blank vector was transduced in the control group. Cells were kept in DMEM without puromycin and G418. 72 hours after transduction, 5µM sodium arsenite (NaAsO₂) were added into the media and kept for 24 hours. The cells were stained with PE Annexin V and anti-flag antibody and were analyzed by flow cytometry. (C) One group of representative original flow cytometry data are shown.

Chapter 4-Discussion

In the present study, we demonstrate that the anti-HIV-1 host protein MxB induces cell apoptosis and promotes oxidative stress-induced apoptosis in both U87 and SupT1 cells. Knockout study confirmed the role of endogenous MxB expression on promoting cell apoptosis. We further show that MxA protein inhibits cell apoptosis and is sufficient to reduce the apoptosis ratio in MxB-expressing cells, indicating a possible role of MxA in balancing MxB-induced apoptosis under certain conditions. In addition, we identified MxB N-terminal domain, GTPase activity and oligomerization as important determinants for its pro-apoptotic activity.

Before the recent reveal of its anti-HIV-1 activity, MxB was believed to be non-antiviral over the decades. Due to the basal level expression and the subcellular localization of MxB, it has been hypothesized that MxB might have other cellular functions such as regulating nucleo-cytoplasmic transport and cell-cycle progression^{196,203}. Inhibition of nuclear import and cell-cycle progression by mutated forms of MxB provided evidence that supports this hypothesis²⁰³. However, since previous studies didn't demonstrate a clear role that MxB plays other than being a host restriction factor, the cellular functions of MxB still remain poorly understood. This is the first study to report the activity of MxB in promoting cell apoptosis, which is likely to help unravel an unexpected role of MxB as a component in the type 1 PCD pathway.

It has long been known that IFNs play important roles in promoting apoptosis with both the mitochondrial²³³ and the death-receptor pathways involved²³⁴. IFN-mediated induction of cell apoptosis occurs late (more than 48 hours post treatment), implicating the involvement of certain ISGs and possibly other intermediate cellular effectors²³⁶.

Following this hypothesis, many ISGs have been identified to be involved in the IFN-induced apoptotic cell death pathway, such as Fas, caspase-4 and caspase- 8^{237} . In this study, we used CRISPR/Cas9 system to knockout the IFN-inducible endogenous MxB from U87MG cells, which leaded to a reduced induction of apoptosis when these cells were treated with IFN α (Figure 24). This result provides evidence that MxB promotes cell apoptosis and is likely to be an important intermediate cellular effector involved in the IFN-induced apoptosis pathway.

In the MxB-knockout U87MG cell lines, flag-tagged Cas9 protein and the target guide RNAs are constantly expressed due to the lentiviral vector-based transduction, which results in higher knockout efficiency. The remaining MxB expression upon IFNα induction might be a result of missense mutations that was introduced by Cas9/sgRNA edition followed by the non-homologous end joining (NHEJ) machinery of the cells. Thus, to generate a cell line with MxB being completely knocked out, single-cell clones will need to be isolated.

MxA has also been reported to enhance cell death under the conditions of influenza virus infection as well as apoptotic stimuli inducement by Nagata's group²³⁹. In Nagata's studies, Swiss mouse 3T3 (NIH 3T3) cell lines overexpressing human MxA protein exhibited significantly increased cell death ratio through both caspase-dependent and -independent mechanisms upon Influenza virus infection^{239,240}. Similar as MxB, the C-terminal region of MxA that is responsible for its oligomerization has also been found to be important for its cell death promotion activity²⁴⁰. However, in our study, MxA was shown to inhibit cell apoptosis in both U87 cells and SupT1 cells. MxA doesn't promote cell apoptosis induced by oxidative stress in the two cell lines tested. This may suggest

that MxA mediates cell death in a cell type-dependent manner or a species-dependent manner. Compared to NIH 3T3 cell line that is derived from mouse embryonic fibroblast cells, U87 cells that is derived from human macrophages and SupT1 cells that is derived from human T cells may be more representative in studying the functions of human MxA protein, as they both have endogenous MxA expression upon IFN induction. Moreover, in order to further demonstrate the function of MxA in cell apoptosis regulation, an MxA knockout experiment may be performed in the future work of this study. By doing so, we would be able test how endogenous MxA interfere with MxB-promoted apoptosis when both of the proteins are induced by IFN.

In the study of the cell death promotion activity of MxA, MxA promotes cell death by enhancing endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress signaling in influenza virus infected cells²⁴¹. Similar as influenza virus, HIV-1 infection has also been shown to induce cell apoptosis through ER stress due to the expression of HIV-1 Tat and gp120 proteins²⁴⁵⁻²⁴⁷. However, in this study, HIV-1 infection didn't accelerate apoptosis in MxB-expressing cells. The major reason that may lead to this consequence is that, as MxB itself blocks HIV-1 replication before integration, the expression of viral proteins, including Tat and gp120, were impaired in MxB-expressing cells. Due to this, ER stress could not be significantly enhanced and, as a consequence, no accelerated apoptosis could be detected in the MxB-expressing cells. This is also supported by the result that very low percentages of p24-positive cells were detected in the MxB group (Figure 20B). MxA also inhibits influenza virus replication at an early stage, which leads to impaired viral protein expressions²⁴⁸. In Nagata's study, in order to compensate the MxA-expressing

cells²⁴¹, which may not be representative to naturally occurred viral infections. Thus, further studies need to be done in order to answer the question whether MxA can enhance influenza virus-induced apoptosis *in vivo*. Nevertheless, to optimize the experimental condition of our study, higher virus doses will be used in the future. Transfecting the MxB-expressing cells with plasmids encoding the HIV-1 proviral DNA should also be a good method in this study, as it bypasses the early stages of HIV-1 replication thus avoids the MxB restriction.

It should also be noted that our data showed U87-CD4⁺/CXCR4⁺ cells and U87MG cells are not as sensitive to oxidative stress-induced apoptosis as Hela cells or SupT1 cells. Upon 24-hours sodium arsenite treatment, U87-CD4⁺/CXCR4⁺ cells showed no significant increase in apoptotic cell number (Figure 21 and Figure 23). Similarly, less than 1.5-fold change in apoptotic cell number was observed in U87MG cells 30 hours after sodium arsenite treatment (Figure 24). This is in agreement with the previous finding that both murine and human macrophages express a novel apoptosis inhibitory factor termed apoptosis inhibitor of macrophage (AIM), which inhibits apoptosis induced by multiple stimuli^{249,250}. The expression of MxB significantly enhanced oxidative stress-induced apoptosis in both cell lines (Figure 21 and Figure 24), implying that the pro-apoptotic activity of MxB overcomes the AIM inhibition. Since our data suggest that AIM is sufficient enough to inhibit the apoptosis induced by multiple oxidative stresses, it's very interesting to see MxB overcomes this pretty strong inhibition. This might be better explained if MxB interacts with AIM and block its functions. To investigate this, we would possibly perform a Co-Immunoprecipitation (Co-IP) assay to test if MxB directly binds to AIM protein. This might be a promising future study direction to unravel

the roles of MxB and AIM in the apoptotic pathway in macrophages.

Taken together, our data demonstrate that MxB induces cell apoptosis and promotes oxidative stress-induced apoptosis whereas the closely related Mx protein MxA inhibits apoptosis. In addition, we identified the N-terminal domain, GTPase activity and oligomerization of MxB as important determinants for its activity in apoptosis promotion. Future studies would aim to illustrate the underlying mechanism of MxB-induced cell apoptosis and to unravel the possible link between the pro-apoptotic activity and the antiviral function of MxB.

List of references

- 1 Centers for Disease, C. Pneumocystis pneumonia--Los Angeles. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep* **30**, 250-252 (1981).
- 2 Centers for Disease, C. Follow-up on Kaposi's sarcoma and Pneumocystis pneumonia. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep* **30**, 409-410 (1981).
- 3 du Bois, R. M., Branthwaite, M. A., Mikhail, J. R. & Batten, J. C. Primary Pneumocystis carinii and cytomegalovirus infections. *Lancet* **2**, 1339 (1981).
- 4 Brennan, R. O. & Durack, D. T. Gay compromise syndrome. *Lancet* **2**, 1338-1339 (1981).
- 5 Centers for Disease, C. A cluster of Kaposi's sarcoma and Pneumocystis carinii pneumonia among homosexual male residents of Los Angeles and Orange Counties, California. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep* **31**, 305-307 (1982).
- 6 Marx, J. L. New disease baffles medical community. *Science* **217**, 618-621 (1982).
- 7 Barre-Sinoussi, F. *et al.* Isolation of a T-lymphotropic retrovirus from a patient at risk for acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS). *Science* **220**, 868-871 (1983).
- 8 Coffin, J. *et al.* What to call the AIDS virus? *Nature* **321**, 10 (1986).
- 9 Popovic, M., Sarngadharan, M. G., Read, E. & Gallo, R. C. Detection, isolation, and continuous production of cytopathic retroviruses (HTLV-III) from patients with AIDS and pre-AIDS. *Science* **224**, 497-500 (1984).
- 10 Marx, J. L. A virus by any other name. *Science* **227**, 1449-1451 (1985).
- 11 Gao, F. *et al.* Origin of HIV-1 in the chimpanzee Pan troglodytes troglodytes. *Nature* **397**, 436-441, doi:10.1038/17130 (1999).
- 12 Hirsch, V. M., Olmsted, R. A., Murphey-Corb, M., Purcell, R. H. & Johnson, P. R. An African primate lentivirus (SIVsm) closely related to HIV-2. *Nature* **339**, 389-392, doi:10.1038/339389a0 (1989).
- 13 De Cock, K. M. *et al.* Epidemiology and transmission of HIV-2. Why there is no HIV-2 pandemic. *JAMA* **270**, 2083-2086 (1993).
- 14 Marlink, R. *et al.* Reduced rate of disease development after HIV-2 infection as compared to HIV-1. *Science* **265**, 1587-1590 (1994).
- Bush, S. & Tebit, D. M. HIV-1 Group O Origin, Evolution, Pathogenesis, and Treatment: Unraveling the Complexity of an Outlier 25 Years Later. *AIDS Rev* 17, 147-158 (2015).
- 16 D'Arc, M. *et al.* Origin of the HIV-1 group O epidemic in western lowland gorillas. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **112**, E1343-1352, doi:10.1073/pnas.1502022112 (2015).
- 17 Hemelaar, J., Gouws, E., Ghys, P. D. & Osmanov, S. Global and regional distribution of HIV-1 genetic subtypes and recombinants in 2004. *AIDS* **20**, W13-23, doi:10.1097/01.aids.0000247564.73009.bc (2006).
- 18 Keele, B. F. *et al.* Chimpanzee reservoirs of pandemic and nonpandemic HIV-1. *Science* **313**, 523-526, doi:10.1126/science.1126531 (2006).

- 19 Weller, S. C. A meta-analysis of condom effectiveness in reducing sexually transmitted HIV. *Soc Sci Med* **36**, 1635-1644 (1993).
- 20 Newell, M. L. Prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HIV: challenges for the current decade. *Bull World Health Organ* **79**, 1138-1144 (2001).
- 21 O'Brien, M. & Markowitz, M. Should we treat acute HIV infection? *Curr HIV/AIDS Rep* **9**, 101-110, doi:10.1007/s11904-012-0113-0 (2012).
- 22 Braun-Falco, O., Froschl, M. & Holzmann, H. [Early dermatologic symptoms in HIV infection]. *Verh Dtsch Ges Inn Med* **94**, 498-506 (1988).
- 23 Yeatman, S. E. *et al.* Brief Report: Health-Seeking Behavior and Symptoms Associated With Early HIV Infection: Results From a Population-Based Cohort in Southern Malawi. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr* **69**, 126-130, doi:10.1097/QAI.000000000000536 (2015).
- 24 Hoenigl, M. *et al.* Signs or Symptoms of Acute HIV Infection in a Cohort Undergoing Community-Based Screening. *Emerging infectious diseases* **22**, doi:10.3201/eid2203.151607 (2016).
- 25 Huang, X. *et al.* Precise determination of time to reach viral load set point after acute HIV-1 infection. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr* **61**, 448-454, doi:10.1097/QAI.0b013e31827146e0 (2012).
- 26 Grossman, Z., Meier-Schellersheim, M., Paul, W. E. & Picker, L. J. Pathogenesis of HIV infection: what the virus spares is as important as what it destroys. *Nat Med* **12**, 289-295, doi:10.1038/nm1380 (2006).
- 27 Hazenberg, M. D. *et al.* T-cell division in human immunodeficiency virus (HIV)-1 infection is mainly due to immune activation: a longitudinal analysis in patients before and during highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART). *Blood* **95**, 249-255 (2000).
- Sousa, A. E., Carneiro, J., Meier-Schellersheim, M., Grossman, Z. & Victorino, R.
 M. CD4 T cell depletion is linked directly to immune activation in the pathogenesis of HIV-1 and HIV-2 but only indirectly to the viral load. *Journal of immunology* 169, 3400-3406 (2002).
- 29 Coffin, J. & Swanstrom, R. HIV pathogenesis: dynamics and genetics of viral populations and infected cells. *Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in medicine* **3**, a012526, doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a012526 (2013).
- 30 Warriner, E. M. *et al.* Immune activation and neuropsychiatric symptoms in HIV infection. *J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci* **22**, 321-328, doi:10.1176/appi.neuropsych.22.3.321 10.1176/jnp.2010.22.3.321 (2010).
- 31 An, P. & Winkler, C. A. Host genes associated with HIV/AIDS: advances in gene discovery. *Trends Genet* **26**, 119-131, doi:10.1016/j.tig.2010.01.002 (2010).
- 32 Freed, E. O. HIV-1 gag proteins: diverse functions in the virus life cycle. *Virology* **251**, 1-15, doi:10.1006/viro.1998.9398 (1998).
- 33 Fiorentini, S., Marini, E., Caracciolo, S. & Caruso, A. Functions of the HIV-1 matrix protein p17. *New Microbiol* **29**, 1-10 (2006).
- 34 Accola, M. A., Strack, B. & Gottlinger, H. G. Efficient particle production by minimal Gag constructs which retain the carboxy-terminal domain of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 capsid-p2 and a late assembly domain. *Journal of virology* **74**, 5395-5402 (2000).

- 35 Braaten, D., Ansari, H. & Luban, J. The hydrophobic pocket of cyclophilin is the binding site for the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Gag polyprotein. *Journal of virology* **71**, 2107-2113 (1997).
- 36 Carroll, S. S. *et al.* Inhibition of HIV-1 reverse transcriptase by pyridinone derivatives. Potency, binding characteristics, and effect of template sequence. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **268**, 276-281 (1993).
- 37 Poon, D. T., Wu, J. & Aldovini, A. Charged amino acid residues of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 nucleocapsid p7 protein involved in RNA packaging and infectivity. *Journal of virology* **70**, 6607-6616 (1996).
- 38 Lu, M., Blacklow, S. C. & Kim, P. S. A trimeric structural domain of the HIV-1 transmembrane glycoprotein. *Nat Struct Biol* **2**, 1075-1082 (1995).
- 39 Hill, M., Tachedjian, G. & Mak, J. The packaging and maturation of the HIV-1 Pol proteins. *Current HIV research* **3**, 73-85 (2005).
- 40 McCune, J. M. *et al.* Endoproteolytic cleavage of gp160 is required for the activation of human immunodeficiency virus. *Cell* **53**, 55-67 (1988).
- 41 Weiss, C. D. HIV-1 gp41: mediator of fusion and target for inhibition. *AIDS Rev* **5**, 214-221 (2003).
- 42 Peterlin, B. M. & Trono, D. Hide, shield and strike back: how HIV-infected cells avoid immune eradication. *Nature reviews. Immunology* **3**, 97-107, doi:10.1038/nri998 (2003).
- 43 Fischer, U., Huber, J., Boelens, W. C., Mattaj, I. W. & Luhrmann, R. The HIV-1 Rev activation domain is a nuclear export signal that accesses an export pathway used by specific cellular RNAs. *Cell* **82**, 475-483 (1995).
- 44 Hope, T. J. Viral RNA export. *Chem Biol* **4**, 335-344 (1997).
- 45 Hadzopoulou-Cladaras, M. *et al.* The rev (trs/art) protein of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 affects viral mRNA and protein expression via a cis-acting sequence in the env region. *Journal of virology* **63**, 1265-1274 (1989).
- 46 Felber, B. K., Drysdale, C. M. & Pavlakis, G. N. Feedback regulation of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 expression by the Rev protein. *Journal of virology* **64**, 3734-3741 (1990).
- 47 Fan, L. & Peden, K. Cell-free transmission of Vif mutants of HIV-1. *Virology* **190**, 19-29 (1992).
- 48 Malim, M. H. & Emerman, M. HIV-1 accessory proteins--ensuring viral survival in a hostile environment. *Cell host & microbe* **3**, 388-398, doi:10.1016/j.chom.2008.04.008 (2008).
- 49 Collins, D. R. & Collins, K. L. HIV-1 accessory proteins adapt cellular adaptors to facilitate immune evasion. *PLoS pathogens* **10**, e1003851, doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1003851 (2014).
- 50 Ganser-Pornillos, B. K., Yeager, M. & Sundquist, W. I. The structural biology of HIV assembly. *Current opinion in structural biology* **18**, 203-217, doi:10.1016/j.sbi.2008.02.001 (2008).
- 51 Nkeze, J., Li, L., Benko, Z., Li, G. & Zhao, R. Y. Molecular characterization of HIV-1 genome in fission yeast Schizosaccharomyces pombe. *Cell Biosci* **5**, 47, doi:10.1186/s13578-015-0037-7 (2015).
- 52 Shum, K. T., Zhou, J. & Rossi, J. J. Aptamer-based therapeutics: new

approaches to combat human viral diseases. *Pharmaceuticals (Basel)* **6**, 1507-1542, doi:10.3390/ph6121507 (2013).

- 53 Didigu, C. A. & Doms, R. W. Novel approaches to inhibit HIV entry. *Viruses* **4**, 309-324, doi:10.3390/v4020309 (2012).
- 54 Berger, E. A., Murphy, P. M. & Farber, J. M. Chemokine receptors as HIV-1 coreceptors: roles in viral entry, tropism, and disease. *Annual review of immunology* **17**, 657-700, doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.17.1.657 (1999).
- 55 Markosyan, R. M., Cohen, F. S. & Melikyan, G. B. HIV-1 envelope proteins complete their folding into six-helix bundles immediately after fusion pore formation. *Mol Biol Cell* **14**, 926-938, doi:10.1091/mbc.E02-09-0573 (2003).
- 56 Schauer, G., Leuba, S. & Sluis-Cremer, N. Biophysical Insights into the Inhibitory Mechanism of Non-Nucleoside HIV-1 Reverse Transcriptase Inhibitors. *Biomolecules* **3**, 889-904, doi:10.3390/biom3040889 (2013).
- 57 Sarafianos, S. G. *et al.* Structure and function of HIV-1 reverse transcriptase: molecular mechanisms of polymerization and inhibition. *Journal of molecular biology* **385**, 693-713, doi:10.1016/j.jmb.2008.10.071 (2009).
- 58 Zennou, V. *et al.* HIV-1 genome nuclear import is mediated by a central DNA flap. *Cell* **101**, 173-185, doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80828-4 (2000).
- 59 Bukrinsky, M. I. *et al.* A nuclear localization signal within HIV-1 matrix protein that governs infection of non-dividing cells. *Nature* **365**, 666-669, doi:10.1038/365666a0 (1993).
- 60 Coffin, J. M. Molecular mechanisms of nucleic acid integration. *Journal of medical virology* **31**, 43-49 (1990).
- 61 Brin, E., Yi, J., Skalka, A. M. & Leis, J. Modeling the late steps in HIV-1 retroviral integrase-catalyzed DNA integration. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **275**, 39287-39295, doi:10.1074/jbc.M006929200 (2000).
- 62 Imai, K., Ochiai, K. & Okamoto, T. Reactivation of latent HIV-1 infection by the periodontopathic bacterium Porphyromonas gingivalis involves histone modification. *Journal of immunology* **182**, 3688-3695, doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0802906 (2009).
- 63 Colin, L., Verdin, E. & Van Lint, C. HIV-1 chromatin, transcription, and the regulatory protein Tat. *Methods Mol Biol* **1087**, 85-101, doi:10.1007/978-1-62703-670-2_8 (2014).
- 64 Freed, E. O. HIV-1 replication. *Somat Cell Mol Genet* **26**, 13-33 (2001).
- 65 Marciniak, R. A. & Sharp, P. A. HIV-1 Tat protein promotes formation of more-processive elongation complexes. *EMBO J* **10**, 4189-4196 (1991).
- 66 Gatignol, A. & Jeang, K. T. Tat as a transcriptional activator and a potential therapeutic target for HIV-1. *Adv Pharmacol* **48**, 209-227 (2000).
- 67 Herrmann, C. H. & Rice, A. P. Lentivirus Tat proteins specifically associate with a cellular protein kinase, TAK, that hyperphosphorylates the carboxyl-terminal domain of the large subunit of RNA polymerase II: candidate for a Tat cofactor. *Journal of virology* **69**, 1612-1620 (1995).
- 68 Greene, W. C. & Peterlin, B. M. Charting HIV's remarkable voyage through the cell: Basic science as a passport to future therapy. *Nat Med* **8**, 673-680, doi:10.1038/nm0702-673 (2002).
- 69 Tazi, J. et al. Alternative splicing: regulation of HIV-1 multiplication as a

target for therapeutic action. *FEBS J* **277**, 867-876, doi:10.1111/j.1742-4658.2009.07522.x (2010).

- 70 Pollard, V. W. & Malim, M. H. The HIV-1 Rev protein. *Annu Rev Microbiol* **52**, 491-532, doi:10.1146/annurev.micro.52.1.491 (1998).
- 71 Coffin, J. M., Hughes, S. H. & Varmus, H. E. in *Retroviruses* (eds J. M. Coffin, S. H. Hughes, & H. E. Varmus) (1997).
- 72 Freed, E. O. HIV-1 assembly, release and maturation. *Nat Rev Microbiol* **13**, 484-496, doi:10.1038/nrmicro3490 (2015).
- 73 Martin-Serrano, J., Zang, T. & Bieniasz, P. D. HIV-1 and Ebola virus encode small peptide motifs that recruit Tsg101 to sites of particle assembly to facilitate egress. *Nat Med* **7**, 1313-1319, doi:10.1038/nm1201-1313 (2001).
- 74 Demirov, D. G., Ono, A., Orenstein, J. M. & Freed, E. O. Overexpression of the N-terminal domain of TSG101 inhibits HIV-1 budding by blocking late domain function. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **99**, 955-960, doi:10.1073/pnas.032511899 (2002).
- 75 Garrus, J. E. *et al.* Tsg101 and the vacuolar protein sorting pathway are essential for HIV-1 budding. *Cell* **107**, 55-65 (2001).
- 76 VerPlank, L. *et al.* Tsg101, a homologue of ubiquitin-conjugating (E2) enzymes, binds the L domain in HIV type 1 Pr55(Gag). *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **98**, 7724-7729, doi:10.1073/pnas.131059198 (2001).
- 77 Sette, P., Nagashima, K., Piper, R. C. & Bouamr, F. Ubiquitin conjugation to Gag is essential for ESCRT-mediated HIV-1 budding. *Retrovirology* **10**, 79, doi:10.1186/1742-4690-10-79 (2013).
- 78 Doyle, T., Goujon, C. & Malim, M. H. HIV-1 and interferons: who's interfering with whom? *Nat Rev Microbiol* **13**, 403-413, doi:10.1038/nrmicro3449 (2015).
- 79 Krupp, A. *et al.* APOBEC3G polymorphism as a selective barrier to cross-species transmission and emergence of pathogenic SIV and AIDS in a primate host. *PLoS pathogens* **9**, e1003641, doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1003641 (2013).
- 80 Kirmaier, A. *et al.* TRIM5 suppresses cross-species transmission of a primate immunodeficiency virus and selects for emergence of resistant variants in the new species. *PLoS Biol* **8**, doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.1000462 (2010).
- 81 Kirchhoff, F. Immune evasion and counteraction of restriction factors by HIV-1 and other primate lentiviruses. *Cell host & microbe* **8**, 55-67, doi:10.1016/j.chom.2010.06.004 (2010).
- 82 Harris, R. S., Hultquist, J. F. & Evans, D. T. The restriction factors of human immunodeficiency virus. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **287**, 40875-40883, doi:10.1074/jbc.R112.416925 (2012).
- 83 Kluge, S. F., Sauter, D. & Kirchhoff, F. SnapShot: antiviral restriction factors. *Cell* **163**, 774-774 e771, doi:10.1016/j.cell.2015.10.019 (2015).
- 84 Daugherty, M. D. & Malik, H. S. Rules of engagement: molecular insights from host-virus arms races. *Annu Rev Genet* **46**, 677-700, doi:10.1146/annurev-genet-110711-155522 (2012).
- 85 Krapp, C. *et al.* Guanylate Binding Protein (GBP) 5 Is an Interferon-Inducible

Inhibitor of HIV-1 Infectivity. *Cell host & microbe*, doi:10.1016/j.chom.2016.02.019 (2016).

- 86 Barre-Sinoussi, F., Ross, A. L. & Delfraissy, J. F. Past, present and future: 30 years of HIV research. *Nat Rev Microbiol* **11**, 877-883, doi:10.1038/nrmicro3132 (2013).
- 87 Gabuzda, D. H. *et al.* Role of vif in replication of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 in CD4+ T lymphocytes. *Journal of virology* **66**, 6489-6495 (1992).
- 88 Strebel, K. *et al.* The HIV 'A' (sor) gene product is essential for virus infectivity. *Nature* **328**, 728-730, doi:10.1038/328728a0 (1987).
- 89 Simon, J. H., Gaddis, N. C., Fouchier, R. A. & Malim, M. H. Evidence for a newly discovered cellular anti-HIV-1 phenotype. *Nat Med* 4, 1397-1400, doi:10.1038/3987 (1998).
- 90 Sheehy, A. M., Gaddis, N. C., Choi, J. D. & Malim, M. H. Isolation of a human gene that inhibits HIV-1 infection and is suppressed by the viral Vif protein. *Nature* **418**, 646-650, doi:10.1038/nature00939 (2002).
- 91 Teng, B., Burant, C. F. & Davidson, N. O. Molecular cloning of an apolipoprotein B messenger RNA editing protein. *Science* **260**, 1816-1819 (1993).
- 92 Zheng, Y. H., Jeang, K. T. & Tokunaga, K. Host restriction factors in retroviral infection: promises in virus-host interaction. *Retrovirology* **9**, 112, doi:10.1186/1742-4690-9-112 (2012).
- 93 Harris, R. S., Petersen-Mahrt, S. K. & Neuberger, M. S. RNA editing enzyme APOBEC1 and some of its homologs can act as DNA mutators. *Mol Cell* **10**, 1247-1253 (2002).
- 94 Bishop, K. N. *et al.* Cytidine deamination of retroviral DNA by diverse APOBEC proteins. *Curr Biol* **14**, 1392-1396, doi:10.1016/j.cub.2004.06.057 (2004).
- 95 Bourara, K., Liegler, T. J. & Grant, R. M. Target cell APOBEC3C can induce limited G-to-A mutation in HIV-1. *PLoS pathogens* **3**, 1477-1485, doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.0030153 (2007).
- 96 Dang, Y., Wang, X., Esselman, W. J. & Zheng, Y. H. Identification of APOBEC3DE as another antiretroviral factor from the human APOBEC family. *Journal of virology* **80**, 10522-10533, doi:10.1128/JVI.01123-06 (2006).
- 97 Liddament, M. T., Brown, W. L., Schumacher, A. J. & Harris, R. S. APOBEC3F properties and hypermutation preferences indicate activity against HIV-1 in vivo. *Curr Biol* **14**, 1385-1391, doi:10.1016/j.cub.2004.06.050 (2004).
- 98 Rose, K. M., Marin, M., Kozak, S. L. & Kabat, D. Regulated production and anti-HIV type 1 activities of cytidine deaminases APOBEC3B, 3F, and 3G. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses* **21**, 611-619, doi:10.1089/aid.2005.21.611 (2005).
- 99 Malim, M. H. APOBEC proteins and intrinsic resistance to HIV-1 infection. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci* **364**, 675-687, doi:10.1098/rstb.2008.0185 (2009).
- 100 Navarro, F. *et al.* Complementary function of the two catalytic domains of APOBEC3G. *Virology* **333**, 374-386, doi:10.1016/j.virol.2005.01.011 (2005).
- 101 Alce, T. M. & Popik, W. APOBEC3G is incorporated into virus-like particles by

a direct interaction with HIV-1 Gag nucleocapsid protein. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **279**, 34083-34086, doi:10.1074/jbc.C400235200 (2004).

- 102 Svarovskaia, E. S. *et al.* Human apolipoprotein B mRNA-editing enzyme-catalytic polypeptide-like 3G (APOBEC3G) is incorporated into HIV-1 virions through interactions with viral and nonviral RNAs. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **279**, 35822-35828, doi:10.1074/jbc.M405761200 (2004).
- 103 Mangeat, B. *et al.* Broad antiretroviral defence by human APOBEC3G through lethal editing of nascent reverse transcripts. *Nature* **424**, 99-103, doi:10.1038/nature01709 (2003).
- 104 Lecossier, D., Bouchonnet, F., Clavel, F. & Hance, A. J. Hypermutation of HIV-1 DNA in the absence of the Vif protein. *Science* **300**, 1112, doi:10.1126/science.1083338 (2003).
- 105 Russell, R. A., Moore, M. D., Hu, W. S. & Pathak, V. K. APOBEC3G induces a hypermutation gradient: purifying selection at multiple steps during HIV-1 replication results in levels of G-to-A mutations that are high in DNA, intermediate in cellular viral RNA, and low in virion RNA. *Retrovirology* **6**, 16, doi:10.1186/1742-4690-6-16 (2009).
- 106 Mbisa, J. L. *et al.* Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 cDNAs produced in the presence of APOBEC3G exhibit defects in plus-strand DNA transfer and integration. *Journal of virology* **81**, 7099-7110, doi:10.1128/JVI.00272-07 (2007).
- 107 Luo, K. *et al.* Cytidine deaminases APOBEC3G and APOBEC3F interact with human immunodeficiency virus type 1 integrase and inhibit proviral DNA formation. *Journal of virology* **81**, 7238-7248, doi:10.1128/JVI.02584-06 (2007).
- 108 Bishop, K. N., Verma, M., Kim, E. Y., Wolinsky, S. M. & Malim, M. H. APOBEC3G inhibits elongation of HIV-1 reverse transcripts. *PLoS pathogens* **4**, e1000231, doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1000231 (2008).
- 109 Iwatani, Y. *et al.* Deaminase-independent inhibition of HIV-1 reverse transcription by APOBEC3G. *Nucleic Acids Res* **35**, 7096-7108, doi:10.1093/nar/gkm750 (2007).
- 110 Guo, F. *et al.* The interaction of APOBEC3G with human immunodeficiency virus type 1 nucleocapsid inhibits tRNA3Lys annealing to viral RNA. *Journal of virology* **81**, 11322-11331, doi:10.1128/JVI.00162-07 (2007).
- 111 Browne, E. P., Allers, C. & Landau, N. R. Restriction of HIV-1 by APOBEC3G is cytidine deaminase-dependent. *Virology* **387**, 313-321, doi:10.1016/j.virol.2009.02.026 (2009).
- 112 Miyagi, E. *et al.* Enzymatically active APOBEC3G is required for efficient inhibition of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. *Journal of virology* **81**, 13346-13353, doi:10.1128/JVI.01361-07 (2007).
- 113 Stenglein, M. D. & Harris, R. S. APOBEC3B and APOBEC3F inhibit L1 retrotransposition by a DNA deamination-independent mechanism. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **281**, 16837-16841, doi:10.1074/jbc.M602367200 (2006).

- 114 Mehle, A. *et al.* Vif overcomes the innate antiviral activity of APOBEC3G by promoting its degradation in the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **279**, 7792-7798, doi:10.1074/jbc.M313093200 (2004).
- 115 Yu, X. *et al.* Induction of APOBEC3G ubiquitination and degradation by an HIV-1 Vif-Cul5-SCF complex. *Science* **302**, 1056-1060, doi:10.1126/science.1089591 (2003).
- 116 Mehle, A., Goncalves, J., Santa-Marta, M., McPike, M. & Gabuzda, D. Phosphorylation of a novel SOCS-box regulates assembly of the HIV-1 Vif-Cul5 complex that promotes APOBEC3G degradation. *Genes Dev* **18**, 2861-2866, doi:10.1101/gad.1249904 (2004).
- 117 Iwatani, Y. *et al.* HIV-1 Vif-mediated ubiquitination/degradation of APOBEC3G involves four critical lysine residues in its C-terminal domain. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **106**, 19539-19544, doi:10.1073/pnas.0906652106 (2009).
- 118 Shao, Q., Wang, Y., Hildreth, J. E. & Liu, B. Polyubiquitination of APOBEC3G is essential for its degradation by HIV-1 Vif. *Journal of virology* **84**, 4840-4844, doi:10.1128/JVI.01911-09 (2010).
- 119 Stremlau, M. *et al.* The cytoplasmic body component TRIM5alpha restricts HIV-1 infection in Old World monkeys. *Nature* **427**, 848-853, doi:10.1038/nature02343 (2004).
- 120 Besnier, C., Takeuchi, Y. & Towers, G. Restriction of lentivirus in monkeys. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **99**, 11920-11925, doi:10.1073/pnas.172384599 (2002).
- 121 Shibata, R., Sakai, H., Kawamura, M., Tokunaga, K. & Adachi, A. Early replication block of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 in monkey cells. *The Journal of general virology* **76** (**Pt 11**), 2723-2730, doi:10.1099/0022-1317-76-11-2723 (1995).
- 122 Himathongkham, S. & Luciw, P. A. Restriction of HIV-1 (subtype B) replication at the entry step in rhesus macaque cells. *Virology* **219**, 485-488, doi:10.1006/viro.1996.0276 (1996).
- 123 Cowan, S. *et al.* Cellular inhibitors with Fv1-like activity restrict human and simian immunodeficiency virus tropism. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **99**, 11914-11919, doi:10.1073/pnas.162299499 (2002).
- 124 Owens, C. M., Yang, P. C., Gottlinger, H. & Sodroski, J. Human and simian immunodeficiency virus capsid proteins are major viral determinants of early, postentry replication blocks in simian cells. *Journal of virology* **77**, 726-731 (2003).
- 125 Han, K., Lou, D. I. & Sawyer, S. L. Identification of a genomic reservoir for new TRIM genes in primate genomes. *PLoS Genet* **7**, e1002388, doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1002388 (2011).
- 126 Nisole, S., Stoye, J. P. & Saib, A. TRIM family proteins: retroviral restriction and antiviral defence. *Nat Rev Microbiol* **3**, 799-808, doi:10.1038/nrmicro1248 (2005).
- 127 Malim, M. H. & Bieniasz, P. D. HIV Restriction Factors and Mechanisms of

Evasion. *Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in medicine* **2**, a006940, doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a006940 (2012).

- 128 Stoye, J. P. & Yap, M. W. Chance favors a prepared genome. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **105**, 3177-3178, doi:10.1073/pnas.0800667105 (2008).
- 129 Stremlau, M. *et al.* Specific recognition and accelerated uncoating of retroviral capsids by the TRIM5alpha restriction factor. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **103**, 5514-5519, doi:10.1073/pnas.0509996103 (2006).
- 130 Diaz-Griffero, F. *et al.* A B-box 2 surface patch important for TRIM5alpha self-association, capsid binding avidity, and retrovirus restriction. *Journal of virology* **83**, 10737-10751, doi:10.1128/JVI.01307-09 (2009).
- 131 Lukic, Z. *et al.* TRIM5alpha associates with proteasomal subunits in cells while in complex with HIV-1 virions. *Retrovirology* **8**, 93, doi:10.1186/1742-4690-8-93 (2011).
- 132 Wu, X., Anderson, J. L., Campbell, E. M., Joseph, A. M. & Hope, T. J. Proteasome inhibitors uncouple rhesus TRIM5alpha restriction of HIV-1 reverse transcription and infection. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **103**, 7465-7470, doi:10.1073/pnas.0510483103 (2006).
- 133 Pertel, T. *et al.* TRIM5 is an innate immune sensor for the retrovirus capsid lattice. *Nature* **472**, 361-365, doi:10.1038/nature09976 (2011).
- 134 Perron, M. J. *et al.* TRIM5alpha mediates the postentry block to N-tropic murine leukemia viruses in human cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **101**, 11827-11832, doi:10.1073/pnas.0403364101 (2004).
- 135 Hatziioannou, T., Perez-Caballero, D., Yang, A., Cowan, S. & Bieniasz, P. D. Retrovirus resistance factors Ref1 and Lv1 are species-specific variants of TRIM5alpha. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **101**, 10774-10779, doi:10.1073/pnas.0402361101 (2004).
- 136 Hatziioannou, T. *et al.* Generation of simian-tropic HIV-1 by restriction factor evasion. *Science* **314**, 95, doi:10.1126/science.1130994 (2006).
- 137 Tristem, M., Marshall, C., Karpas, A. & Hill, F. Evolution of the primate lentiviruses: evidence from vpx and vpr. *EMBO J* **11**, 3405-3412 (1992).
- 138 Ayinde, D., Maudet, C., Transy, C. & Margottin-Goguet, F. Limelight on two HIV/SIV accessory proteins in macrophage infection: is Vpx overshadowing Vpr? *Retrovirology* **7**, 35, doi:10.1186/1742-4690-7-35 (2010).
- 139 Goujon, C. *et al.* Characterization of simian immunodeficiency virus SIVSM/human immunodeficiency virus type 2 Vpx function in human myeloid cells. *Journal of virology* **82**, 12335-12345, doi:10.1128/JVI.01181-08 (2008).
- 140 Kaushik, R., Zhu, X., Stranska, R., Wu, Y. & Stevenson, M. A cellular restriction dictates the permissivity of nondividing monocytes/macrophages to lentivirus and gammaretrovirus infection. *Cell host & microbe* **6**, 68-80, doi:10.1016/j.chom.2009.05.022 (2009).
- 141 Laguette, N. *et al.* SAMHD1 is the dendritic- and myeloid-cell-specific HIV-1

restriction factor counteracted by Vpx. *Nature* **474**, 654-657, doi:10.1038/nature10117 (2011).

- 142 Hrecka, K. *et al.* Vpx relieves inhibition of HIV-1 infection of macrophages mediated by the SAMHD1 protein. *Nature* **474**, 658-661, doi:10.1038/nature10195 (2011).
- 143 Brandariz-Nunez, A. *et al.* Role of SAMHD1 nuclear localization in restriction of HIV-1 and SIVmac. *Retrovirology* **9**, 49, doi:10.1186/1742-4690-9-49 (2012).
- 144 Qiao, F. & Bowie, J. U. The many faces of SAM. *Sci STKE* **2005**, re7, doi:10.1126/stke.2862005re7 (2005).
- 145 White, T. E. *et al.* Contribution of SAM and HD domains to retroviral restriction mediated by human SAMHD1. *Virology* **436**, 81-90, doi:10.1016/j.virol.2012.10.029 (2013).
- 146 Goncalves, A. *et al.* SAMHD1 is a nucleic-acid binding protein that is mislocalized due to aicardi-goutieres syndrome-associated mutations. *Human mutation* **33**, 1116-1122, doi:10.1002/humu.22087 (2012).
- 147 Goldstone, D. C. *et al.* HIV-1 restriction factor SAMHD1 is a deoxynucleoside triphosphate triphosphohydrolase. *Nature* **480**, 379-382, doi:10.1038/nature10623 (2011).
- 148 Powell, R. D., Holland, P. J., Hollis, T. & Perrino, F. W. Aicardi-Goutieres syndrome gene and HIV-1 restriction factor SAMHD1 is a dGTP-regulated deoxynucleotide triphosphohydrolase. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **286**, 43596-43600, doi:10.1074/jbc.C111.317628 (2011).
- 149 Lahouassa, H. *et al.* SAMHD1 restricts the replication of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 by depleting the intracellular pool of deoxynucleoside triphosphates. *Nat Immunol* **13**, 223-228, doi:10.1038/ni.2236 (2012).
- 150 Beloglazova, N. *et al.* Nuclease activity of the human SAMHD1 protein implicated in the Aicardi-Goutieres syndrome and HIV-1 restriction. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **288**, 8101-8110, doi:10.1074/jbc.M112.431148 (2013).
- 151 Ryoo, J. *et al.* The ribonuclease activity of SAMHD1 is required for HIV-1 restriction. *Nat Med* **20**, 936-941, doi:10.1038/nm.3626 (2014).
- 152 Choi, J., Ryoo, J., Oh, C., Hwang, S. & Ahn, K. SAMHD1 specifically restricts retroviruses through its RNase activity. *Retrovirology* **12**, 46, doi:10.1186/s12977-015-0174-4 (2015).
- 153 Ahn, J. *et al.* HIV/simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV) accessory virulence factor Vpx loads the host cell restriction factor SAMHD1 onto the E3 ubiquitin ligase complex CRL4DCAF1. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **287**, 12550-12558, doi:10.1074/jbc.M112.340711 (2012).
- 154 Geraghty, R. J., Talbot, K. J., Callahan, M., Harper, W. & Panganiban, A. T. Cell type-dependence for Vpu function. *J Med Primatol* **23**, 146-150 (1994).
- 155 Sakai, H., Tokunaga, K., Kawamura, M. & Adachi, A. Function of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpu protein in various cell types. *The Journal* of general virology **76** (Pt 11), 2717-2722, doi:10.1099/0022-1317-76-11-2717 (1995).

- 156 Varthakavi, V., Smith, R. M., Bour, S. P., Strebel, K. & Spearman, P. Viral protein U counteracts a human host cell restriction that inhibits HIV-1 particle production. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **100**, 15154-15159, doi:10.1073/pnas.2433165100 (2003).
- 157 Neil, S. J., Eastman, S. W., Jouvenet, N. & Bieniasz, P. D. HIV-1 Vpu promotes release and prevents endocytosis of nascent retrovirus particles from the plasma membrane. *PLoS pathogens* **2**, e39, doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.0020039 (2006).
- 158 Neil, S. J., Sandrin, V., Sundquist, W. I. & Bieniasz, P. D. An interferon-alpha-induced tethering mechanism inhibits HIV-1 and Ebola virus particle release but is counteracted by the HIV-1 Vpu protein. *Cell host & microbe* **2**, 193-203, doi:10.1016/j.chom.2007.08.001 (2007).
- 159 Neil, S. J., Zang, T. & Bieniasz, P. D. Tetherin inhibits retrovirus release and is antagonized by HIV-1 Vpu. *Nature* **451**, 425-430, doi:10.1038/nature06553 (2008).
- 160 Kupzig, S. *et al.* Bst-2/HM1.24 is a raft-associated apical membrane protein with an unusual topology. *Traffic* **4**, 694-709 (2003).
- 161 Rollason, R., Korolchuk, V., Hamilton, C., Jepson, M. & Banting, G. A CD317/tetherin-RICH2 complex plays a critical role in the organization of the subapical actin cytoskeleton in polarized epithelial cells. *J Cell Biol* **184**, 721-736, doi:10.1083/jcb.200804154 (2009).
- 162 Ohtomo, T. *et al.* Molecular cloning and characterization of a surface antigen preferentially overexpressed on multiple myeloma cells. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications* **258**, 583-591, doi:10.1006/bbrc.1999.0683 (1999).
- 163 Andrew, A. J., Miyagi, E., Kao, S. & Strebel, K. The formation of cysteine-linked dimers of BST-2/tetherin is important for inhibition of HIV-1 virus release but not for sensitivity to Vpu. *Retrovirology* **6**, 80, doi:10.1186/1742-4690-6-80 (2009).
- 164 Perez-Caballero, D. *et al.* Tetherin inhibits HIV-1 release by directly tethering virions to cells. *Cell* **139**, 499-511, doi:10.1016/j.cell.2009.08.039 (2009).
- 165 Hammonds, J., Wang, J. J., Yi, H. & Spearman, P. Immunoelectron microscopic evidence for Tetherin/BST2 as the physical bridge between HIV-1 virions and the plasma membrane. *PLoS pathogens* **6**, e1000749, doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1000749 (2010).
- 166 Strauss, J. D. *et al.* Three-Dimensional Structural Characterization of HIV-1 Tethered to Human Cells. *Journal of virology* **90**, 1507-1521, doi:10.1128/JVI.01880-15 (2015).
- 167 Hinz, A. *et al.* Structural basis of HIV-1 tethering to membranes by the BST-2/tetherin ectodomain. *Cell host & microbe* **7**, 314-323, doi:10.1016/j.chom.2010.03.005 (2010).
- 168 Swiecki, M. *et al.* Structural and biophysical analysis of BST-2/tetherin ectodomains reveals an evolutionary conserved design to inhibit virus release. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **286**, 2987-2997, doi:10.1074/jbc.M110.190538 (2011).

- 169 Schubert, H. L. *et al.* Structural and functional studies on the extracellular domain of BST2/tetherin in reduced and oxidized conformations. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **107**, 17951-17956, doi:10.1073/pnas.1008206107 (2010).
- 170 Galao, R. P., Le Tortorec, A., Pickering, S., Kueck, T. & Neil, S. J. Innate sensing HIV-1 assembly bv Tetherin induces NFkappaB-dependent of proinflammatory responses. Cell host & microbe 12, 633-644. doi:10.1016/j.chom.2012.10.007 (2012).
- 171 Iwabu, Y. *et al.* HIV-1 accessory protein Vpu internalizes cell-surface BST-2/tetherin through transmembrane interactions leading to lysosomes. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **284**, 35060-35072, doi:10.1074/jbc.M109.058305 (2009).
- 172 Skasko, M. *et al.* HIV-1 Vpu protein antagonizes innate restriction factor BST-2 via lipid-embedded helix-helix interactions. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **287**, 58-67, doi:10.1074/jbc.M111.296772 (2012).
- 173 Van Damme, N. *et al.* The interferon-induced protein BST-2 restricts HIV-1 release and is downregulated from the cell surface by the viral Vpu protein. *Cell host & microbe* **3**, 245-252, doi:10.1016/j.chom.2008.03.001 (2008).
- 174 Dube, M. *et al.* Antagonism of tetherin restriction of HIV-1 release by Vpu involves binding and sequestration of the restriction factor in a perinuclear compartment. *PLoS pathogens* **6**, e1000856, doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1000856 (2010).
- 175 Goffinet, C. *et al.* HIV-1 antagonism of CD317 is species specific and involves Vpu-mediated proteasomal degradation of the restriction factor. *Cell host & microbe* **5**, 285-297, doi:10.1016/j.chom.2009.01.009 (2009).
- 176 Mangeat, B. *et al.* HIV-1 Vpu neutralizes the antiviral factor Tetherin/BST-2 by binding it and directing its beta-TrCP2-dependent degradation. *PLoS pathogens* **5**, e1000574, doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1000574 (2009).
- 177 Zhang, F. *et al.* Nef proteins from simian immunodeficiency viruses are tetherin antagonists. *Cell host & microbe* **6**, 54-67, doi:10.1016/j.chom.2009.05.008 (2009).
- 178 Gupta, R. K. *et al.* Simian immunodeficiency virus envelope glycoprotein counteracts tetherin/BST-2/CD317 by intracellular sequestration. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **106**, 20889-20894, doi:10.1073/pnas.0907075106 (2009).
- 179 Le Tortorec, A. & Neil, S. J. Antagonism to and intracellular sequestration of human tetherin by the human immunodeficiency virus type 2 envelope glycoprotein. *Journal of virology* **83**, 11966-11978, doi:10.1128/JVI.01515-09 (2009).
- 180 Lu, J. *et al.* The IFITM proteins inhibit HIV-1 infection. *Journal of virology* **85**, 2126-2137, doi:10.1128/JVI.01531-10 (2011).
- 181 Sallman Almen, M., Bringeland, N., Fredriksson, R. & Schioth, H. B. The dispanins: a novel gene family of ancient origin that contains 14 human members. *PloS one* **7**, e31961, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0031961 (2012).
- 182 Brass, A. L. *et al.* The IFITM proteins mediate cellular resistance to influenza A H1N1 virus, West Nile virus, and dengue virus. *Cell* **139**, 1243-1254,

doi:10.1016/j.cell.2009.12.017 (2009).

- 183 Bailey, C. C., Zhong, G., Huang, I. C. & Farzan, M. IFITM-Family Proteins: The Cell's First Line of Antiviral Defense. *Annu Rev Virol* **1**, 261-283, doi:10.1146/annurev-virology-031413-085537 (2014).
- 184 Jia, R. *et al.* The C-terminal sequence of IFITM1 regulates its anti-HIV-1 activity. *PloS one* **10**, e0118794, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0118794 (2015).
- 185 Jia, R. *et al.* The N-terminal region of IFITM3 modulates its antiviral activity by regulating IFITM3 cellular localization. *Journal of virology* **86**, 13697-13707, doi:10.1128/JVI.01828-12 (2012).
- 186 Narayana, S. K. *et al.* The Interferon-induced Transmembrane Proteins, IFITM1, IFITM2, and IFITM3 Inhibit Hepatitis C Virus Entry. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **290**, 25946-25959, doi:10.1074/jbc.M115.657346 (2015).
- 187 Compton, A. A. *et al.* IFITM proteins incorporated into HIV-1 virions impair viral fusion and spread. *Cell host & microbe* **16**, 736-747, doi:10.1016/j.chom.2014.11.001 (2014).
- 188 Tartour, K. *et al.* IFITM proteins are incorporated onto HIV-1 virion particles and negatively imprint their infectivity. *Retrovirology* **11**, 103, doi:10.1186/s12977-014-0103-y (2014).
- 189 Yu, J. *et al.* IFITM Proteins Restrict HIV-1 Infection by Antagonizing the Envelope Glycoprotein. *Cell Rep* **13**, 145-156, doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2015.08.055 (2015).
- 190 Chutiwitoonchai, N. *et al.* Characteristics of IFITM, the newly identified IFN-inducible anti-HIV-1 family proteins. *Microbes Infect* **15**, 280-290, doi:10.1016/j.micinf.2012.12.003 (2013).
- 191 Li, M. *et al.* Codon-usage-based inhibition of HIV protein synthesis by human schlafen 11. *Nature* **491**, 125-128, doi:10.1038/nature11433 (2012).
- 192 Jakobsen, M. R., Mogensen, T. H. & Paludan, S. R. Caught in translation: innate restriction of HIV mRNA translation by a schlafen family protein. *Cell Res* **23**, 320-322, doi:10.1038/cr.2012.155 (2013).
- 193 Liu, Z. *et al.* The interferon-inducible MxB protein inhibits HIV-1 infection. *Cell host & microbe* **14**, 398-410, doi:10.1016/j.chom.2013.08.015 (2013).
- 194 Goujon, C. *et al.* Human MX2 is an interferon-induced post-entry inhibitor of HIV-1 infection. *Nature* **502**, 559-562, doi:10.1038/nature12542 (2013).
- 195 Kane, M. *et al.* MX2 is an interferon-induced inhibitor of HIV-1 infection. *Nature* **502**, 563-566, doi:10.1038/nature12653 (2013).
- 196 Melen, K. *et al.* Human MxB protein, an interferon-alpha-inducible GTPase, contains a nuclear targeting signal and is localized in the heterochromatin region beneath the nuclear envelope. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **271**, 23478-23486 (1996).
- 197Fricke, T. et al. MxB binds to the HIV-1 core and prevents the uncoating
process of HIV-1. Retrovirology **11**, 68,
doi:10.1186/PREACCEPT-6453674081373986 (2014).
- 198 Goujon, C. *et al.* Transfer of the amino-terminal nuclear envelope targeting domain of human MX2 converts MX1 into an HIV-1 resistance factor. *Journal of virology* **88**, 9017-9026, doi:10.1128/JVI.01269-14 (2014).

- 199 Goujon, C., Greenbury, R. A., Papaioannou, S., Doyle, T. & Malim, M. H. A triple-arginine motif in the amino-terminal domain and oligomerization are required for HIV-1 inhibition by human MX2. *Journal of virology* **89**, 4676-4680, doi:10.1128/JVI.00169-15 (2015).
- 200 Schulte, B. *et al.* Restriction of HIV-1 Requires the N-Terminal Region of MxB as a Capsid-Binding Motif but Not as a Nuclear Localization Signal. *Journal of virology* **89**, 8599-8610, doi:10.1128/JVI.00753-15 (2015).
- 201 Buffone, C., Schulte, B., Opp, S. & Diaz-Griffero, F. Contribution of MxB oligomerization to HIV-1 capsid binding and restriction. *Journal of virology* **89**, 3285-3294, doi:10.1128/JVI.03730-14 (2015).
- 202 Fribourgh, J. L. *et al.* Structural insight into HIV-1 restriction by MxB. *Cell host* & *microbe* **16**, 627-638, doi:10.1016/j.chom.2014.09.021 (2014).
- 203 King, M. C., Raposo, G. & Lemmon, M. A. Inhibition of nuclear import and cell-cycle progression by mutated forms of the dynamin-like GTPase MxB. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **101**, 8957-8962, doi:10.1073/pnas.0403167101 (2004).
- 204 Matreyek, K. A. *et al.* Host and viral determinants for MxB restriction of HIV-1 infection. *Retrovirology* **11**, 90, doi:10.1186/s12977-014-0090-z (2014).
- 205 Liu, Z. *et al.* The highly polymorphic cyclophilin A-binding loop in HIV-1 capsid modulates viral resistance to MxB. *Retrovirology* **12**, 1, doi:10.1186/s12977-014-0129-1 (2015).
- 206 Xu, B. *et al.* Structural insight into the assembly of human anti-HIV dynamin-like protein MxB/Mx2. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications* **456**, 197-201, doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2014.11.058 (2015).
- 207 McLaren, P. J. *et al.* Identification of potential HIV restriction factors by combining evolutionary genomic signatures with functional analyses. *Retrovirology* **12**, 41, doi:10.1186/s12977-015-0165-5 (2015).
- 208 Krapp, C. *et al.* Guanylate Binding Protein (GBP) 5 Is an Interferon-Inducible Inhibitor of HIV-1 Infectivity. *Cell host & microbe* **19**, 504-514, doi:10.1016/j.chom.2016.02.019 (2016).
- 209 Bartee, E., Mansouri, M., Hovey Nerenberg, B. T., Gouveia, K. & Fruh, K. Downregulation of major histocompatibility complex class I by human ubiquitin ligases related to viral immune evasion proteins. *Journal of virology* **78**, 1109-1120 (2004).
- 210 Goto, E. *et al.* c-MIR, a human E3 ubiquitin ligase, is a functional homolog of herpesvirus proteins MIR1 and MIR2 and has similar activity. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **278**, 14657-14668, doi:10.1074/jbc.M211285200 (2003).
- 211 Tada, T. *et al.* MARCH8 inhibits HIV-1 infection by reducing virion incorporation of envelope glycoproteins. *Nat Med* **21**, 1502-1507, doi:10.1038/nm.3956 (2015).
- 212 Rosa, A. *et al.* HIV-1 Nef promotes infection by excluding SERINC5 from virion incorporation. *Nature* **526**, 212-217, doi:10.1038/nature15399 (2015).
- 213 Usami, Y., Wu, Y. & Gottlinger, H. G. SERINC3 and SERINC5 restrict HIV-1 infectivity and are counteracted by Nef. *Nature* **526**, 218-223,

doi:10.1038/nature15400 (2015).

- 214 Kroemer, G. *et al.* Classification of cell death: recommendations of the Nomenclature Committee on Cell Death. *Cell Death Differ* **12 Suppl 2**, 1463-1467, doi:10.1038/sj.cdd.4401724 (2005).
- 215 Kroemer, G. *et al.* Classification of cell death: recommendations of the Nomenclature Committee on Cell Death 2009. *Cell Death Differ* **16**, 3-11, doi:10.1038/cdd.2008.150 (2009).
- 216 Hengartner, M. O. The biochemistry of apoptosis. *Nature* **407**, 770-776, doi:10.1038/35037710 (2000).
- 217 Czabotar, P. E., Lessene, G., Strasser, A. & Adams, J. M. Control of apoptosis by the BCL-2 protein family: implications for physiology and therapy. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* **15**, 49-63, doi:10.1038/nrm3722 (2014).
- 218 Kluck, R. M., Bossy-Wetzel, E., Green, D. R. & Newmeyer, D. D. The release of cytochrome c from mitochondria: a primary site for Bcl-2 regulation of apoptosis. *Science* **275**, 1132-1136 (1997).
- Li, P. *et al.* Cytochrome c and dATP-dependent formation of Apaf-1/caspase-9 complex initiates an apoptotic protease cascade. *Cell* **91**, 479-489 (1997).
- 220 Kischkel, F. C. *et al.* Cytotoxicity-dependent APO-1 (Fas/CD95)-associated proteins form a death-inducing signaling complex (DISC) with the receptor. *EMBO J* **14**, 5579-5588 (1995).
- 221 Strasser, A., Jost, P. J. & Nagata, S. The many roles of FAS receptor signaling in the immune system. *Immunity* **30**, 180-192, doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2009.01.001 (2009).
- 222 Mizushima, N. Autophagy: process and function. *Genes Dev* **21**, 2861-2873, doi:10.1101/gad.1599207 (2007).
- 223 Glick, D., Barth, S. & Macleod, K. F. Autophagy: cellular and molecular mechanisms. *The Journal of pathology* **221**, 3-12, doi:10.1002/path.2697 (2010).
- 224 Proskuryakov, S. Y., Konoplyannikov, A. G. & Gabai, V. L. Necrosis: a specific form of programmed cell death? *Exp Cell Res* **283**, 1-16 (2003).
- 225 van Doorn, W. G. *et al.* Morphological classification of plant cell deaths. *Cell Death Differ* **18**, 1241-1246, doi:10.1038/cdd.2011.36 (2011).
- 226 Moquin, D. & Chan, F. K. The molecular regulation of programmed necrotic cell injury. *Trends Biochem Sci* **35**, 434-441, doi:10.1016/j.tibs.2010.03.001 (2010).
- 227 Peter, M. E. Programmed cell death: Apoptosis meets necrosis. *Nature* **471**, 310-312, doi:10.1038/471310a (2011).
- 228 Holler, N. *et al.* Fas triggers an alternative, caspase-8-independent cell death pathway using the kinase RIP as effector molecule. *Nat Immunol* **1**, 489-495, doi:10.1038/82732 (2000).
- He, S. *et al.* Receptor interacting protein kinase-3 determines cellular necrotic response to TNF-alpha. *Cell* **137**, 1100-1111, doi:10.1016/j.cell.2009.05.021 (2009).
- 230 Cho, Y. S. *et al.* Phosphorylation-driven assembly of the RIP1-RIP3 complex regulates programmed necrosis and virus-induced inflammation. *Cell* **137**, 1112-1123, doi:10.1016/j.cell.2009.05.037 (2009).

- 231 Lin, Y., Devin, A., Rodriguez, Y. & Liu, Z. G. Cleavage of the death domain kinase RIP by caspase-8 prompts TNF-induced apoptosis. *Genes Dev* **13**, 2514-2526 (1999).
- 232 Melino, G., Candi, E. & Steinert, P. M. Assays for transglutaminases in cell death. *Methods Enzymol* **322**, 433-472 (2000).
- 233 Juang, S. H. *et al.* IFN-beta induces caspase-mediated apoptosis by disrupting mitochondria in human advanced stage colon cancer cell lines. *Journal of interferon & cytokine research : the official journal of the International Society for Interferon and Cytokine Research* **24**, 231-243, doi:10.1089/107999004323034105 (2004).
- 234 Balachandran, S. *et al.* Alpha/beta interferons potentiate virus-induced apoptosis through activation of the FADD/Caspase-8 death signaling pathway. *Journal of virology* **74**, 1513-1523 (2000).
- 235 Thyrell, L. *et al.* Mechanisms of Interferon-alpha induced apoptosis in malignant cells. *Oncogene* **21**, 1251-1262, doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1205179 (2002).
- 236 Chawla-Sarkar, M., Leaman, D. W. & Borden, E. C. Preferential induction of apoptosis by interferon (IFN)-beta compared with IFN-alpha2: correlation with TRAIL/Apo2L induction in melanoma cell lines. *Clin Cancer Res* **7**, 1821-1831 (2001).
- 237 Chawla-Sarkar, M. *et al.* Apoptosis and interferons: role of interferon-stimulated genes as mediators of apoptosis. *Apoptosis* **8**, 237-249 (2003).
- 238 Trinchieri, G. Type I interferon: friend or foe? *The Journal of experimental medicine* **207**, 2053-2063, doi:10.1084/jem.20101664 (2010).
- 239 Mibayashi, M., Nakad, K. & Nagata, K. Promoted cell death of cells expressing human MxA by influenza virus infection. *Microbiol Immunol* **46**, 29-36 (2002).
- 240 Numajiri, A., Mibayashi, M. & Nagata, K. Stimulus-dependent and domain-dependent cell death acceleration by an IFN-inducible protein, human MxA. *Journal of interferon & cytokine research : the official journal of the International Society for Interferon and Cytokine Research* **26**, 214-219, doi:10.1089/jir.2006.26.214 (2006).
- 241 Numajiri Haruki, A., Naito, T., Nishie, T., Saito, S. & Nagata, K. Interferon-inducible antiviral protein MxA enhances cell death triggered by endoplasmic reticulum stress. *Journal of interferon & cytokine research : the official journal of the International Society for Interferon and Cytokine Research* **31**, 847-856, doi:10.1089/jir.2010.0132 (2011).
- 242 Farrugia, G. & Balzan, R. Oxidative stress and programmed cell death in yeast. *Front Oncol* **2**, 64, doi:10.3389/fonc.2012.00064 (2012).
- 243 Sinha, K., Das, J., Pal, P. B. & Sil, P. C. Oxidative stress: the mitochondria-dependent and mitochondria-independent pathways of apoptosis. *Archives of toxicology* **87**, 1157-1180, doi:10.1007/s00204-013-1034-4 (2013).
- 244 Wang, H. *et al.* The Interferon-Induced Mx2 Inhibits Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome Virus Replication. *Journal of interferon & cytokine*

research : the official journal of the International Society for Interferon and Cytokine Research **36**, 129-139, doi:10.1089/jir.2015.0077 (2016).

- 245 Meyaard, L. *et al.* Programmed death of T cells in HIV-1 infection. *Science* **257**, 217-219 (1992).
- 246 Westendorp, M. O. *et al.* Sensitization of T cells to CD95-mediated apoptosis by HIV-1 Tat and gp120. *Nature* **375**, 497-500, doi:10.1038/375497a0 (1995).
- 247 Shah, A., Vaidya, N. K., Bhat, H. K. & Kumar, A. HIV-1 gp120 induces type-1 programmed cell death through ER stress employing IRE1alpha, JNK and AP-1 pathway. *Sci Rep* **6**, 18929, doi:10.1038/srep18929 (2016).
- 248 Xiao, H., Killip, M. J., Staeheli, P., Randall, R. E. & Jackson, D. The human interferon-induced MxA protein inhibits early stages of influenza A virus infection by retaining the incoming viral genome in the cytoplasm. *Journal of virology* **87**, 13053-13058, doi:10.1128/JVI.02220-13 (2013).
- 249 Haruta, I. *et al.* Association of AIM, a novel apoptosis inhibitory factor, with hepatitis via supporting macrophage survival and enhancing phagocytotic function of macrophages. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **276**, 22910-22914, doi:10.1074/jbc.M100324200 (2001).
- 250 Valledor, A. F. *et al.* Activation of liver X receptors and retinoid X receptors prevents bacterial-induced macrophage apoptosis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **101**, 17813-17818, doi:10.1073/pnas.0407749101 (2004).